Industry Canada Research Publications

CANADA IN THE 21st CENTURY

III. RESPONDING TO THE CHALLENGES

INDIVIDUAL RESPONSES TO CHANGES IN THE CANADIAN LABOUR MARKET

Paper Number 9 December 1998

Industry Canada Research Publications Program

The Industry Canada Research Publications Program provides a forum for the analysis of key micro-economic challenges in the Canadian economy and contributes to an informed public debate on these issues. Under the direction of the Micro-Economic Policy Analysis Branch, the Program's research paper series features peer-reviewed analytical working papers or policy-related discussion papers written by specialists on micro-economic issues of broad importance.

The views expressed in these papers do not necessarily reflect the views of Industry Canada or of the federal government.

Industry Canada Research Publications Program

CANADA IN THE 21st CENTURY

III. RESPONDING TO THE CHALLENGES

INDIVIDUAL RESPONSES TO CHANGES IN THE CANADIAN LABOUR MARKET

By Paul Beaudry and David A. Green, University of British Columbia

Aussi disponible en français

Canadian Cataloguing in Publication Data

Beaudry, Paul

Individual responses to changes in the Canadian labour market

(Canada in the 21st century. III. Responding to the challenges) Text in English and French on inverted pages. Title on added t.p.: Réactions individuelles à l'évolution du marché du travail au Canada. ISBN 0-662-63956-1 Cat. No. C21-27/3-1998-2

1. Labor market - Canada.

- 2. Employment forecasting Canada.
- 3. Youth Employment Canada.
- I. Green, David A. (David Allen)
- II. Canada. Industry Canada.

III. Title.

IV. Series: Canada in the 21st century. III. Responding to the challenges.

HD5728.B42 1998 331.1'0971 C98-980373-2E

The list of titles available in the Research Publications Program and details on how to obtain copies can be found at the end of this document. Abstracts of research volumes and papers published in Industry Canada's various series, and the full text of our quarterly newsletter, *MICRO*, are available on *STRATEGIS*, the Department's online business information site, at: http://strategis.ic.gc.ca.

Comments should be addressed to:

Someshwar Rao Director Strategic Investment Analysis Micro-Economic Policy Analysis Industry Canada 5th Floor, West Tower 235 Queen Street Ottawa, Ontario K1A 0H5

Tel.: (613) 941-8187 Fax: (613) 991-1261 E-mail: rao.someshwar@ic.gc.ca

Table of Contents

Preface	i
INTRODUCTION	1
BASIC TRENDS IN THE LABOUR FORCE, EMPLOYMENT,	
EARNINGS AND NON-LABOUR ACTIVITIES	3
Labour Force Trends	3
Population Trends	3
Employment Rates by Age Group	3
Employment Rates by Education Group	7
Industrial Composition	12
Trends in Job Tenure	13
Non-Standard Employment	14
Labour Force Participation	17
Unemployment	19
CHANGING PATTERNS IN LABOUR EARNINGS	23
Overall Trends	23
Breakdown by Age and Education	24
Weekly Earnings, Hours Worked and Hourly Wages	26
Youth Adjustment, Education and Family Formation	28
Looking Beyond the Major Trends	31
ESTIMATING COHORT-SPECIFIC AGE-EARNINGS PROFILES	37
EARNING COHORT EFFECT FOR FULL-YEAR/FULL TIME-WORKERS	53
Cohort Patterns in Employment and Job Stability	56
Looking Forward	65
SHORT-TERM PREDICTIONS	65
LONGER-TERM PREDICTIONS	68
Conclusion	73
Notes	75
Bibliography	77
Industry Canada Research Publications	79

PREFACE

A NEW MILLENNIUM APPROACHES, Canadians are going through a time of dramatic economic change. Markets are becoming global, and economic activity across nations is becoming increasingly integrated. Revolutionary developments in computer and communications technology are facilitating globalization, and are also altering a great deal the workplace and the lifestyles of Canadians. At the same time, largely as a consequence of the information revolution, knowledge-based activities are becoming increasingly important within the Canadian economy and the economies of other industrialized nations.

These and related major transformations of the economic environment invite a comparison with the Industrial Revolution of the 1800s. As in the earlier time, major structural changes are giving rise to uncertainties. Firms and workers are struggling to find their place in the new economic order. Canadians collectively face the question of whether their nation's physical, human and institutional resources will provide a firm foundation for continued prosperity. Many see Canada's prospects as being much less secure than in earlier years, when the country's rich natural resources played a major role in shaping the Canadian economy.

To examine fully the medium to longer-term opportunities and challenges of these developments, the Micro-Economic Policy Analysis Branch of Industry Canada asked a group of experts to provide their "vision" for Canada in the 21st Century on a number of important issues. Each author was required to undertake two formidable tasks: first, to identify major historical trends and develop scenarios to illustrate how developments in his/her respective area might unfold over the next ten to fifteen years; and second, to examine the medium-term consequences of these developments for the Canadian economy.

The papers coming out of this exercise are now being published under the general heading of "Canada in the 21st Century". This series consists of eleven papers on different aspects of Canada's medium-term outlook. The papers are divided into three major sections. The first section, *Scene Setting*, focuses on important developments that are going to shape the medium-term economic environment in Canada. The second section, *Resources and Technology*, looks at trends among some important components of Canada's wealth creation and considers the actions needed to ensure that these factors provide a firm foundation for continued prosperity. The last section, *Responding to the Challenges*, explores individual, corporate and government responses to the medium-term challenges and offers some options for an appropriate course of action.

As part of the third section, *Responding to the Challenges*, this paper by Professor Paul Beaudry and David Green of the University of British Columbia examines the reaction of young workers to the dramatic labour market changes of recent years. The authors document the significant deterioration in the position of recent labour market entrants. New male entrants (over the age of 25) in the 1990s face a 20 to 30 percent lower level of real earnings over their lifetime than individuals who entered the labour force in the 1970s. For females, the dominant trend has been the successful integration of large numbers of new entrants into the labour force. But the authors find that, when appropriate adjustments are made to account for the upward trend in employment and hours worked up to 1989, females have also experienced a decline in real earnings.

The authors project a continuation of the negative labour market trends for young workers, accompanied by a further increase in school enrolment rates. The steady rise in female participation and employment rates, however, appears to have ended. Over the long run, the authors see two conflicting forces. Globalization and increased competition from low-cost labour overseas might be expected to make life even more difficult in the future for young and low skilled Canadian workers. On the other hand, unskilled males are likely to face less competition from new labour market entrants, since the pressures on labour supply from demographic factors and increasing female participation have abated.

INTRODUCTION

Change is the single most pervasive element emphasized in current research on the labour market.

Stephan F. Kaliski, 1985

More than TEN YEARS LATER, Kaliski's statement about the perceived state of change in the Canadian labour market is still relevant. Canadian society today is concerned with the effects of ongoing events such as the arrival of the information age, the constraints imposed by high public-sector debt and the impact of persistently high rates of unemployment. Those effects will be determined by the responses of individuals, firms and government, all bound by the framework set by Canada's institutions and place in the world economy. This paper, focussing on individual responses, has two goals: First, we seek to document recent patterns in individual labour market-related outcomes such as earnings, employment, school enrollment and family formation. Second, we shall attempt to predict how individual outcomes will continue to evolve in the next decade. In meeting these goals we shall concentrate on youth since we are concerned with how current and future turbulence in the labour market will permanently affect new entrants.

To document recent patterns, we must characterize the major labour market trends. However, observed trends over the last two decades reflect several different phenomena occurring simultaneously. For example, they reflect aggregate business cycle effects, differing relative outcomes for newer versus older cohorts of labour market entrants, and the ageing patterns of older cohorts. To understand how individuals may respond to current turbulence, it is important to untangle whether poor outcomes for young workers in the 1990s are due mainly to cyclical effects that will pass if and when aggregate labour market conditions improve, or whether they reflect permanent declines in the relative performance of recent labour market entrants. Predictions for youth would be gloomier if the poor outcomes in the 1990s reflect permanent declines for new cohorts rather than a particularly strong cyclical downturn that may soon be reversed. For this reason, a major part of the analysis is concerned with disentangling cohort versus business cycle effects.

Projecting observed trends into the future can take two forms. The first is a mechanical extension of past trends. This is useful for a short period but it becomes more uncertain the farther ahead we try to predict. Even mechanical extension, though, will depend on our success in untangling cyclical from cohort effects in the recent past. This is particularly true since we are more concerned with welfare over the entire life cycle of current youth rather than simply the nature of adjustments they must make in the short run. We are particularly interested in predicting the relative long-term success of new entrants rather than whether their outcomes will improve in the short run because of a cyclical upswing. Using this first prediction approach, we project outcomes for new entrants in the very near future.

To predict outcomes beyond the very short run of, say, three to five years, one needs a theory of what has caused existing trends and how that cause itself is likely to change. This is the second form of projection. Unfortunately, no one theory presents itself but information on past trends provides the extra service of helping us evaluate competing theories. We use past information in that way and settle on two plausible theories of underlying causes. We then describe two different predictive scenarios built from those theories.

As discussed above, our overriding concern is with outcomes for youths. However, we focus largely on and make predictions for 25- to 34-year-olds. We do so because we view this age as the time of a crucial transition to stable work patterns, accelerating careers and family formation. If change in the economy and the responses of youths to it generate permanent scars, these will be most evident in the time immediately following youth. The naturally high degree of flexibility of young people will make such scars difficult to detect directly. Alternatively, if current changes in the labour market require more adjustments from youth (for instance, in the form of prolonged schooling) but those adjustments still lead to stable work patterns at older ages, changes for youths may not arouse as much concern. We can evaluate this possibility directly by examining the experiences of different cohorts as they advance from age 25 to 34.

The remaining sections of the paper are structured as follows: In the next section, we provide an extensive overview of the changes occurring in the labour market, emphasizing how these changes are distributed across the population. The third section, which is the most novel aspect of the paper, presents a cohort-based analysis of observed changes in order to identify how opportunities are shifting for young workers. Drawing on the information presented in both the second and third sections, we map out, in the fourth section, two different scenarios of plausible adjustments by individuals to present changes. Finally, we summarize our main findings in the final section.

BASIC TRENDS IN THE LABOUR FORCE, EMPLOYMENT, EARNINGS AND NON-LABOUR ACTIVITIES

LABOUR FORCE TRENDS

Population Trends

We begin our analysis of labour market trends by examining the growth of the source population for the labour force. This essentially consists of the civilian population over the age of 15. The defining feature of the population growth rate has been a surge as members of the baby boom passed the age of 15, followed by a sharp fall. Figure 1 shows the size of the population in the 16-24, 25-34 and 35-44 age groups from 1950 to the present.¹ The baby boom is strongly in evidence in the more than 100 percent rise in the size of the youth population from 1960 to its peak in 1980 as well as in the parallel, lagged patterns for the other two age groups. In the next two to three decades, the population age distribution will shift: the peak of the baby boom will move close to retirement and the proportion of the source population in the youngest age category will be relatively small. The demographic shift is likely to be a central feature in defining the labour market experiences of new youth cohorts. The contrast between this situation and that in the previous two to three decades (when the youth cohorts were either the baby boomers themselves or the cohorts directly following them) should be kept in mind when projecting any past trends into the future.

Employment Rates by Age Group

We start our examination of labour force trends for those in the source population over the last 20 years by focussing on employment. We believe this is a useful place to start because employment is both the goal and the main labour market experience for most of the source population, something that is often forgotten in the more standard focus on unemployment and labour force participation. Also, this is the element of the labour force that is least subject to measurement error. Figure 2 shows the ratio of employment to the source population from 1965 to 1995. The pattern over that time period may be roughly characterized as an upward trend with cyclical swings increasing in amplitude. In the late 1970s, for example, the employment-to-population ratio declined by between 1 percent and 2 percent but it then surged to a much higher level by 1981. In the 1981-82 recession, the ratio fell by about 4 percent but by 1990 it again surged to levels well above the previous peak. The 1990s have so far been marked by a very sharp drop in the ratio, which has remained persistently low.

Underlying this general pattern has been a complex set of employment trends for various age, gender and education groups in the source population. Figure 3a shows the employment-to-population ratio by age group for males as



4

well as the ratio of the employment-to-population ratio for youths to that for males aged 25 to 54. The overall pattern seen in Figure 2 is not strongly in evidence for any of the age groupings presented for males. For males aged 15 to 24, the same strong cyclicality is evident as in Figure 2 but the overall trend is flat or downward. For all males over the age of 25, a sharp trend downward may be observed over the last 20 years with only small cyclical movements. The negative trend is often attributed to the impact of earlier retirement among men over the age of 55. However, the employment-to-population ratio for 25- to 34-year-olds falls by nearly 10 percent over this period. The trend for the latter age group suggests that trends in male employment are of more concern than might be warranted if they could be attributed purely to retirement decisions. Both the youngest age group and the 25- to 34-year-olds show strong cyclical patterns in their employment ratios. One might expect this feature in the case of young workers who have alternative uses of their time for investment in education and training. For the 25-34 age group the cyclicality is more of a surprise, as is the strong downward trend. Finally, the ratio of the employment-to-population ratio for youth to that for all workers over the age of 25 indicates that the relative position of youth is essentially unchanged from start to end of the period.

In Figure 3b, the results for females indicate much less cyclicality than that observed for males, and they show a strong upward trend for several of the age groups. The greatest cyclical variation is again evident in the youngest age group, with the drop being particularly large and persistent during the most recent labour market downturn. A comparison of cyclical peaks (1980 and 1989) indicates that an upward trend existed for youth before 1990. Relative to the employment patterns for those over the age of 25, however, employment for female youths fell dramatically over the period. Finally, in contrast to the situation for males, the 25-34 age group of females has more in common with older age groups than with youth. The 25-34 age group shows the same strong upward trend and minor cyclicality as the overall line for all age groups 25 and older.

One key result from Figures 2, 3a and 3b is that overall trends can hide very significant differences between sub-populations, and particularly between males and females. While females' employment ratios have strongly increased over the last 20 years, those of males have plummeted even for age groups not near retirement. Further (a perhaps surprising finding), the male series display more cyclicality than their female counterparts. Similarity between males and females appears mainly in the youngest age group, where both males and females have experienced sharp employment downturns in the 1990s.



6

Employment Rates by Education Group

Strong trends and interesting patterns for sub-populations are also evident from an examination of employment trends by education level. Riddell (1995) shows that since 1980 there has been a substantial movement in the educational composition of the workforce away from the lowest education categories and toward postsecondary categories. In particular, over the period from 1980 to 1993, Riddell documents a 57 percent drop in the number of employed workers with an elementary education and a 77 percent increase in the number with a university degree. Those trends have accelerated in the 1990s (see Riddell, 1995, Table 2). Underlying these patterns are changes induced by the retirement of older, less educated cohorts as well as by the education choices of new cohorts, plus the poorer labour force performance of the least educated workers in economic downturns. Whatever the exact reason for the changes, however, the scale of the shifts is remarkable.

Tables 1-4 present employment-to-population ratios by gender, age and education for 1981, 1982, 1988 and 1992 respectively. A comparison of Table 1 to Table 3 shows trend effects from one cyclical peak (1981) to another (1988). It is not possible to arrive at a simple statement in terms of a common drop in employment rates for elementary-educated workers of both sexes or all age types. While such a trend exists for prime-age males, the employment rate of low-educated males aged 15 to 24 actually increases over this period. For males over the age of 25 in most education groups, the employment rates can best be described as high and relatively stable. Perhaps the main trend observable over this time period is the increase in the employment-to-population ratios for females over the age of 25 in all education categories above elementary - an indication that the trends for older females discussed earlier are present across virtually the entire education range. For young females, the pattern of increases and decreases in the employment rate across education categories is mixed. It is difficult to provide a full interpretation of the patterns for the youngest age group since they will reflect changes in employment opportunities as well as in school enrollment rates.

A comparison of Table 3 and Table 4 reveals how employment rates changed as the economy moved into the labour market difficulties of the early 1990s. For all age and sex groups, there are sharp reductions in the employment rates of individuals with an elementary education. For the youngest age groups, this finding may reflect decisions to stay in school longer in the face of a recession; for the older workers, however, it is an indication that the least educated bear the brunt of economic downturns. For workers over the age of 25, the recession has caused drops in employment rates for most education groups, with the smallest drops occurring for those with more than a high school education. Among young workers, declines may be seen in the employment rates for all male education groups but there is a substantial increase in the employment rate for females with a high school education.

TABLE 1										
EMPLOYMENT-TO-POPULATION AGE GROUP AND GENDER	RATIOS,	1981								
	15	- 24			25 - 34			35 - 54		AIL
Education	Male	Female	ИI	Male	Female	All	Male	Female	All	GROUPS
Elementary	.5758	.3862	.4941	.9036	.5160	.7096	.9083	.5055	.7158	.6769
High school, some or completed	.8072	.7144	.7611	.9723	.6745	.8168	.9667	.6756	8099.	.7927
Some postsecondary studies	.9199	.8629	.8925	.9650	.7820	.8789	.9722	.7555	.8664	.8820
Postsecondary certificate	.9472	.9304	.9377	.9761	.8331	.9012	.9869	.7858	.8741	.8988
Postsecondary degree	.9278	.9665	.9478	.9688	.8768	.9275	.9852	.8110	.9260	.9288
All	.8165	.7401	.7786	.9660	.7252	.8445	.9571	.6658	.8112	.8107
Note: Based on authors' calculation.	s using the	Survey of C	Consumer Fin	lances.						

8

TABLE 2										
Employment-to-Population Age Group and Gender	RATIOS,	1982								
	15	- 24			25 - 34			35 - 54		ALL
Education	Male	Female	All	Male	Female	All	Male	Female	All	GROUPS
Elementary	.5238	.3594	.4557	.8667	.5019	.6844	.8964	.5030	.7047	.6591
High school, some or completed	.7824	.6882	.7360	.9589	.6828	.8136	.9489	.6660	.7965	.7785
Some postsecondary studies	.8791	.8291	.8540	.9722	.7874	.8886	.9771	.7369	.8667	.8676
Postsecondary certificate	.9186	.8820	.8974	.9776	.8226	.8961	.9823	.7734	.8683	.8856
Postsecondary degree	.8316	.9501	.8948	.9711	.8639	.9220	.9802	.8222	.9232	.9203
All	.7849	.7160	.7507	.9584	.7266	.8411	.9467	.6605	.8035	.7983
Note: Based on authors' calculation	is using the	Survey of (Consumer Fi	nances.						

TABLE 3										
EMPLOYMENT-TO-POPULATION AGE GROUP AND GENDER	RATIOS,	1988								
Education	Male	15 - 24 Female	All	Male	25 - 34 Female	All	Male	35 - 54 Female	All	ALL Groups
Elementary	0.6360	0.3805	0.5270	0.8479	0.5533	0.7098	0.8507	0.5390	0.6964	0.6652
High school, some or completed	0.8506	0.7563	0.8051	0.9614	0.7759	0.8678	0.9430	0.7594	0.8456	0.8400
Some postsecondary studies	0.9563	0.8907	0.9230	0.9727	0.8250	0.8989	0.9356	0.8054	0.8723	0.9001
Postsecondary certificate	0.9715	0.9412	0.9548	0.9832	0.8924	0.9358	0.9711	0.8351	0.8994	0.9234
Postsecondary degree	0.9474	0.9509	0.9494	0.9668	0.9092	0.9380	0.9738	0.8958	0.9413	0.9407
All	0.8648	0.7865	0.8262	0.9617	0.8153	0.8878	0.9387	0.762	0.8499	0.8555
Note: Based on authors' calculation	is using the	Survey of (Consumer Fin	ances.						

TABLE 4										
Employment-to-Population Age Group and Gender	RATIOS,	1992								
		15 - 24			25 - 34			35 - 54		ALL
Education	Male	Female	All	Male	Female	All	Male	Female	All	GROUPS
Elementary	.5491	.3251	.4532	.7878	.4985	.6507	.7561	.5156	.6369	.6055
High school, some or completed	.7304	.6698	.7016	.9163	.7005	.8087	.9180	.7561	.8301	.7847
Some postsecondary studies	.9083	.8710	.8898	.9145	.8113	.8628	.9265	.7773	.8506	8698.
Postsecondary certificate	.9169	8990	.9075	.9735	.8787	.9252	.9347	.8569	.8961	.9080
Postsecondary degree	.9209	.9297	.9263	.9595	.9189	.9391	.9684	.8701	.9265	.9308
All	.7832	.7405	.7623	.9360	.7971	.8663	.9182	.7793	.8482	.8334
Note: Based on authors' calculation	is using the	e Survey of (Consumer Fi	nances.						

Finally, a comparison of Table 1 and Table 2 reveals the effects of the onset of an earlier recession. While we can see some of the same patterns as those at the onset of the recession in the early 1980s (the employment rates for the least educated decline in both cases), the movements are much smaller in 1981 and 1982 compared with 1988 and 1992. By this measure, the changes observed in the early 1990s cannot be attributed to a "standard" recession effect.

Overall, there is evidence of substantial downward shifts in employment rates for low-educated workers and upward shifts for the most educated. The 1990s witnessed sharper and more sustained falls in employment rates than occurred in the recession of the early 1980s.

Industrial Composition

The labour force has also undergone substantial shifts in its sectoral composition in the last two decades. Kaliski (1985) and Riddell (1985) discuss trends in industrial and occupational composition of the workforce up to the early 1980s, and Riddell (1996) extends the analysis into the 1990s. The main industrial composition trends before 1980 are a strong shift away from all primary sector industries, a rise in employment in manufacturing and construction, and a much stronger rise in employment in the service industries. Much of the growth in relative importance of the service sector occurred before 1973 but it has continued unabated to the present. In the 1980s, the manufacturing sector showed near-zero employment growth while the service sector grew strongly, particularly in the financial services industries. In the 1990s, employment growth in manufacturing turned sharply negative. Service sector employment continued to grow but within that sector there were very significant drops in growth in the financial services industries and the public sector. As Betcherman and Morissette (1994) note, the latter trend could be seen as particularly troubling for youth, for whom government jobs have provided a highquality entry port to the labour force in the past. Finally, it is worth noting that youth and female workers account for a disproportionate share of the growth in the service sector.

The stagnant growth in employment in Canada's manufacturing sector has fuelled an ongoing concern that significant structural change is occurring in the labour market, leading to more unstable work patterns. Riddell (1996) discusses this issue in the context of shifts in employment both across broad sectors and within the manufacturing sector. He concludes that there is little evidence of a recent increase in structural change across broad sectors relative to the 1960s and 1970s, but there is evidence of more upheaval within the manufacturing sector in recent times.

Trends in Job Tenure

To investigate whether perceived structural changes have created more job instability, Green and Riddell (1996) examine the distribution of non-self-employed job durations over time. Figure 4 (which recreates their Figure 1) shows the proportion of ongoing jobs of various (incomplete) durations in March of each year, from 1979 to 1991. On the basis of this figure there does not appear to be substantial evidence of increased job instability since the proportion of jobs that are of very short duration has not increased over time. There is some evidence of cyclicality, particularly in terms of reductions in the proportion of jobs lasting less than one year in the recessions of the early 1980s and early 1990s. The overall picture masks significant differences between subgroups, however. After controlling for business cycle conditions, Green and Riddell find statistically significant and substantial increases in the proportion of jobs lasting under one year for males and females aged 20 to 24 in virtually all education groups over the period from 1979 to 1989. Increases in this proportion are also evident for males aged 25 to 34 in all education groups, and for workers with less than a high school education in virtually all age groups (both males and females). The fact that, by this measure, there has been an increase in job instability for males aged 25 to 34 but not for females in this age group provides an interesting parallel to the trends in employment discussed earlier.



It should be noted, though, that while positive trends are stronger for males in this age category, females still have a higher probability of holding jobs lasting one year or less. The increased instability for these groups is offset by a trend toward longer-lasting jobs among women over the age of 25 and men in the 35 - 44 age category. Overall, the job duration distribution has experienced a "hollowing out" of the middle: instability is greater for the young and least educated, and also for males aged 25 to 34.

Non-Standard Employment

Job instability may show up in shifts toward non-standard forms of employment as well as in changes in job duration. One interesting trend in this regard has been an increase in the proportion of self-employed workers in the economy. Crompton (1993) documents a slow but steady increase in self-employment from 1971 to 1991. Self-employment constituted 14 percent of total employment in 1989 and 15 percent in 1994 (Krahn, 1995). More specifically, for own-account self-employed (self-employed individuals who have no employees), the equivalent figures are 7 percent in 1989 and 9 percent in 1994, with the percentages being slightly higher for men than women. Self-employment seems not to play a large role in youth labour market experience, with only 5 percent of males and under 3 percent of females aged 15 to 24 being classified as own-account self-employed (Krahn, 1995). Self-employment rates increase significantly with age, as might be expected. There appears to be no trend toward self-employment among the youngest age cohort in the 1990s, but there is a slight (statistically insignificant) shift in that direction for workers aged 25 to 34 (Krahn, 1995).

Further evidence of reduced labour market stability is found in the rapid rise in part-time employment. From 1976 to 1994 the percentage of the workforce working less than 30 hours per week rose from 11 percent to 17 percent. Within that trend there are strong differences by gender and age. For example, part-time employment for females aged 15 to 24 rose from approximately 23 percent in 1976 to 46 percent in 1994. For males in the same age group, the increase was from 18 percent to 36 percent. For men aged 25 to 54, the parttime rate was only 4 percent in 1994. In the 1990s the rate of growth of parttime employment has essentially stopped, but this overall trend hides large growth in part-time employment for both sexes in the youngest cohort (from 40 percent in 1989 to 46 percent in 1994 in the case of females aged 15 to 24), offset by declines for all age groups aged 25 to 54 (Krahn, 1995). Whether these trends are to be seen as worrisome depends to some extent on whether the individuals involved are choosing part-time employment. The majority of part-time workers voluntarily work less than 30 hours a week. In 1995, the proportion of part-time workers who listed themselves as involuntarily employed part-time was 25 percent for 15- to 24-year-old males, 28 percent for 15- to 24-year-old females, 42 percent for males over the age of 25, and 32 percent for females over the age of 25. However, there has been a strong upward trend in the proportion of involuntary part-timers for both sexes and all age groups in the 1990s.

Why has part-time work increased in importance for young workers but not for their older counterparts in the 1990s? The close similarity of trends in the involuntary part-time component for youth and older workers in the 1990s suggests that the answer does not lie in relatively poorer labour market conditions for younger workers. Instead it may be related to the strong increase in school enrollment for 15- to 24-year-olds in the same period. If that is so, the rise in youth part-time employment may be less of a concern than it first appears. We return to this point later when we discuss enrollment trends.

Job instability may also be indicated by increases in contract jobs with a fixed termination date set in advance. An increase in contract jobs, even if the distribution of job durations remains unchanged, would indicate a weaker connection between workers and a specific firm as well as a career path that involves more job switches. As with other types of non-standard work, contract jobs are more common among the young than in other age categories. In 1994, 17 percent of 15- to 24-year-old females and 16 percent of males in the same age category held contract jobs, while the figure was below 9 percent for the remaining workforce. In the 1990s there has been a small upward trend in the proportion of young workers in these categories. Most other age groups show either no increase or a slightly negative trend in the 1990s for females but there are increasing rates for males, with the percentage of males aged 25 to 34 who hold temporary jobs increasing from 6 percent in 1989 to 10 percent in 1994 (Krahn, 1995).

The various types of non-standard employment exhibit a high degree of overlap. For example, part-time jobs are also more likely to be of short tenure. To aid in understanding net movements in non-standard employment, Figure 5a plots the proportion of males in various age groups who worked full-year/full-time in various years. Full-year/full-time workers are defined as individuals who worked over 50 weeks in a year and who list themselves as full-time workers on their main job in a year. Not surprisingly, the proportion varies considerably for youths and older workers. For both youths and older age groups, it is tempting to compare 1988 with perhaps 1993 and to draw a conclusion that non-standard work has been on a steep upward path in recent years. This may be true in part, but a comparison with the early 1980s indicates that the proportion working full-year/full-time declined sharply at that time as well. In the third section, we attempt to untangle common year effects, such as might be caused by a recession, from "permanent" differences facing new labour force entrants in the 1990s versus those in earlier periods.

Figure 5b presents the same information as Figure 5a for females. Considerable similarity is apparent in patterns for males and females in the youngest age group. For both genders, there is a strong cyclicality and a very large drop in the proportion who hold full-year/full-time jobs in the 1990s. For



older age groups, however, the pattern for females is much the same as patterns in employment rates seen earlier. In particular, a strong upward trend in the proportion of full-year/full-time workers through the 1980s becomes flat in the 1990s. The most striking difference between males and females is found in the age 25 - 34 category. The male pattern is much more similar to that for youths among males.

Non-standard employment as a whole can be summarized as following an upward trend, with some particularly sharp rises in the 1990s. The rises in the 1990s have been most noticeable for youths of both sexes and males aged 25 to 34. But while non-standard employment has certainly played a substantial role in adjustments by workers to the weaker labour market of the 1990s, it is not clear whether trends in the 1990s represent a cyclical reaction or a more permanent change. We return to this issue in the empirical work presented in the third section. It should be kept in mind, however, that none of the individual types of non-standard employment make up a very large proportion of total employment. Similarly, claims that the labour market has shifted dramatically toward unstable work arrangements are overstated, especially for prime-age workers.

Labour Force Participation

Underlying the employment trends we have been examining are movements in the labour force participation rates. Until the late 1980s these movements have been dominated by large and continual rises in the female participation rate, which was 23 percent in 1953 and approximately 60 percent in 1990. In the 1990s, the increase in the female participation rate has stalled. Figure 6a shows the participation rate for women in various age groups. For the youth component, aged 15 to 24, a very rapid increase up to 1981 slowed through the 1980s and then turned sharply negative in the 1990s. One might expect a downturn in youth participation in economic declines as youths respond to poor labour market opportunities by withdrawing and enrolling in education or training. However, a comparison of the small downturn in the youth participation rate in 1982-83 with the large drop in the 1990s suggests that something more than a standard cyclical response is occurring. For older age groups, the female participation rate has essentially stayed constant in the 1990s, with a slight fall for 25- to 34-year-olds and small increases for older groups (Butlin, 1995).

The patterns for males shown in Figure 6b are quite different. In contrast to females, the participation rate for males over the age of 25 shows a continual downward path over the last two decades, falling from 81 percent in 1976 to 74 percent in 1995. In part, this trend is a reflection of an ongoing move toward earlier retirement among men over the age of 55. However, the other two age group lines in the figure indicate that retirement is not the sole explanation of the overall trend. Males aged 15 to 24 show a pattern somewhat similar to females in the same age group. Their participation rate is essentially flat



18

through the 1980s and then falls sharply, from 73 percent in 1989 to 64 percent in 1995. The male rate appears to be more cyclically sensitive than the corresponding female rate; again, however, it appears unlikely that drops in the male rate in the 1990s are simply a replay of the cyclical downturn in the early 1980s. More surprising than the recent decline in the youth participation rate is the fall in the participation rate for 25- to 34-year-old males. After remaining near 95 percent up to 1989, their participation rate fell to 91 percent by 1995.

Participation rates for males over the age of 25 can be summarized as following a downward trend with an accelerating decline in the 1990s. Females over the age of 25 experienced strong growth in participation rates up to 1989, followed by a plateau in the 1990s. Young males and females share a pattern of a relatively flat trend in the 1980s, turning into a large drop in the 1990s.

Unemployment

A useful way to understand the labour-related performance of the Canadian economy over the last two decades is to compare trends in the participation rate to trends in the employment-to-population ratios. For females, there are strikingly rapid increases in both participation and employment rates up to 1989. From 1981 to 1989, the labour force participation rate for females aged 25 to 34 increased by approximately 11 percent from 66 percent in 1981 to 77 percent in 1989. At the same time, the employment-to-population ratio for that group rose from 61 percent to 70 percent. The economy thus managed to provide a large number of new jobs for a very large increase in the labour force. The employment creation rate did not quite match the labour force growth rate over this period, however, and the result shows up in the unemployment rate. Figure 7a shows the unemployment rate by age group for females. As expected, the unemployment rate for females aged 25 to 34 increased slightly between 1981 and 1989. The patterns for all females over the age of 25 are very similar to those for females aged 25 to 34 in this period: rapid increases in the labour force participation rate, not quite matched by strong growth rates in employment. In the 1990s, as we have seen, the growth in participation stalled for women over the age of 25, and the unemployment rate pattern has been determined by employment growth that first declined and then recovered slightly.

For females aged 15 to 24, there is much more cyclical variation in all three rates. However, matching the cyclical peaks of 1981 and 1989, there may be seen an increase in the participation rate of 4 percent and an increase in the employment rate of 5 percent. For this group: mild (compared with older females) participation growth was more than matched by mild employment growth. The result was a drop in the unemployment rate for young women during the 1980s. In the 1990s both the participation and employment rates for this group have plunged, with the employment rate dropping faster in the early 1990s and causing a sharp rise in the unemployment rate. Overall, women have found the 1990s very different from any time in the previous two decades. Up



to 1989, variations in unemployment were generated by differing rates of increase in participation and employment rates. In contrast, the 1990s have witnessed stagnant or negative growth in most participation rates, accompanied by a decline and then resumption in employment growth for women over the age of 25 and a drop in employment growth for women under 25.

For males over 25, the past two decades brought continual declines in both participation and employment. While the decline has been quite smooth in the case of the participation rate, the employment rate has shown marked cyclical swings; the result is the large cyclical variation in the unemployment rates shown in Figure 7b. Again, the most surprising decline may be for 25- to 34-year-olds: their labour force participation rate fell from 95.5 percent in 1981 to 94 percent in 1989, at the same time as their employment rate fell from 89.4 percent to 87 percent. This group thus faced poorer employment outcomes offset by some withdrawal from the labour force as well as an increase in the unemployment rate. In the 1990s, the experience of 25- to 34-year-old men has been worse: their employment rate fell by 7 percent while their participation rate fell by 2 percent from 1989 to 1993. The overall pattern is in striking contrast to the positive employment growth for females in the same age group.

Males in the youngest age group followed a different pattern. Their employment rate actually grew from 1981 to 1989 while their participation rate was relatively steady, leading to a drop in their unemployment rate. Along with patterns in the 1990s, this situation is very similar to the pattern for females in the same age group. Movements in the youth labour market thus seem to differ from those in labour markets for older age groups of either sex. As with females, the male youth unemployment rate in the 1990s has not risen to the levels it reached in the recession of the early 1980s. On the other hand, for older males and females, unemployment rates in the 1990s have nearly matched or surpassed those in the early 1980s. Thus, while one would not describe youth labour market experiences in the 1990s as good, their outcomes in terms of unemployment are better (when compared with older workers) than in the recession of the early 1980s. This phenomenon is mainly the result of much greater labour force withdrawal among young workers in the 1990s; it masks the relatively poor (for young compared with older females) or relatively constant (for young compared with older males) employment experiences for youths in the 1990s compared with the early 1980s.

Table 5 presents unemployment rates by gender and education level. As might be expected, unemployment rates fall continuously as education levels rise for both sexes. For males, there is much stronger cyclicality in unemployment rates in the two lower versus the two higher unemployment rates. Unemployment rates for both elementary- and some high school-educated workers show very sharp jumps in 1990, to levels that are comparable with rates witnessed for these groups in the recession of the early 1980s. In contrast, the unemployment rate for individuals with a postsecondary degree does not increase substantially until 1992 but it reaches higher levels than those in 1982.

TABLE 5							
Unemployment Rates by Education Le Year and Gender	SVEL						
	1981		198	5	198	4	
Education	Male	Female	Male	Female	Male	Female	
Elementary	0.1692	0.1582	0.1908	0.1658	0.1800	0.1676	
High school, some or completed	0.1362	0.1245	0.1769	0.1515	0.1424	0.1357	
Some postsecondary studies	0.0802	0.0737	0.1368	0.1190	0.0898	0.1045	
Postsecondary degree	0.0325	0.0531	0.0432	0.0434	0.0485	0.0549	
All	0.1151	0.1055	0.1470	0.1282	0.1213	0.1152	
Note: Unemployment rates are calculated from the labour force in the reference week wh	the Survey of C 10 are without v	Consumer Finances. vork and searching	The unemploym for work.	ient rate equals the	e proportion of ind	ividuals in	

22

For females the pattern is similar, apart from the fact that unemployment rates climb much higher for males in the lower two education categories in the 1990s than for females in the same education groups.

Movements in unemployment rates can occur because more people enter unemployment (i.e., the state of being without work but searching for work), either through leaving a job or starting to search for a job when they are without one. Movements can also occur if there is variation in how long individuals stay in a given unemployment spell. The first avenue for unemployment rate movements is called the incidence of unemployment while the second is called duration. Incidence can be studied by examining movements in the probability that individuals will leave a job and enter unemployment, or that they will leave the "Not in the Labour Force" state (i.e., the state of being without work but not looking for work) and entering unemployment. The duration of unemployment spells is determined by the probability that an unemployed individual leaves unemployment by getting a job or ceasing to search for work. The latter movement can occur when unemployed individuals become discouraged about their job prospects and simply stop searching. As the economy moves through a cycle, the number of discouraged workers can vary a great deal, sometimes causing apparently perverse movements in the unemployment rate. For this reason, the unemployment rate can be described as a rubber ruler when it comes to measuring the business cycle.

CHANGING PATTERNS IN LABOUR EARNINGS

Overall Trends

In recent years, researchers have directed considerable effort toward documenting changes in the distribution of labour earnings in Canada. The results provide a rather complete but intricate description of the changes that have occurred over the last 15 years. With the aim of offering a simple description of the major findings, we review this earnings literature by first documenting the overall movements in the distribution of annual earnings, then breaking down these movements into broad age and education groups, and finally discussing the breakdown of the observed changes between hours worked and hourly wages. Throughout we report findings for men and women separately. Most of the information summarized here derives from the Survey of Consumer Finances.

The overall changes in real annual earnings for men and women are summarized in Table 6. For men, median annual earnings have been declining since the early 1980s. However, the behaviour of the median does not summarize all changes appropriately; in particular, from 1981 to 1993 there has been substantial polarization. During this period, the gap between the top and bottom decile of the earnings distributions widened considerably: earnings of the top decile decreased by only 1 percent while those of the bottom decile decreased by more that 27 percent. This increased disparity in earnings indicates a particularly

Perc by Si	entage C elected D	HANGE IN DECILES, AI	ANNUAL REAI LL EARNERS	. Earning	S	
		1981-88			19	88-93
	Decile	Males	Females		Males	Females
	10-			10	11	
			17		12	
	50	-4	1-			5 10
	00	0	0			1 6

harsh drop in absolute and relative earnings for those at the bottom of the distribution. Recent work by Morissette and Bérubé (1996) further suggests that the observed changes in annual earnings actually reflect changes in lifetime earnings. Using a panel data set based on income tax records, Morissette and Bérubé show that the increased dispersion in earnings over the 1980s was not associated with increased mobility across the income distribution. Therefore, the observed increased polarization of annual earnings over the 1980s can be reasonably interpreted as indicating increased inequality in permanent income.

The picture for women is substantially different from that for men. The earnings of women continued to grow throughout the 1980s and early 1990s. As might be expected, much of the growth in women's earnings is due to increases in annual hours worked. In fact, when we focus exclusively on full-year/full-time workers (an approach that limits the changes in earnings attributed to changes in hours worked), we observe that the earnings for women in the bottom decile have actually fallen relative to the median.

Breakdowns by Age and Education

Once it is recognized that there have been substantial movements in the earnings distribution, it is natural to ask whether the observed changes are attributable to changes in the composition of the workforce or to changes in earnings between different groupings of workers. The decomposition that has attracted the most attention is on the basis of age (or experience) and education groupings. Effort has also been devoted to assessing the importance of changes in industrial and occupational composition (see, for example, Richardson, 1994). Since the latter decomposition explains little of the overall trends, we concentrate on documenting how the increased inequality in earnings relates to age and education.

The first important finding related to age and education (see, for example, Morissette, Myles and Picot, 1993) is that the increased polarization of earnings observed over the 1980s is not due simply to a change in the ageeducation composition of the working population. In fact, as we shall see later in this paper, the changes in the age-education composition of the workforce have most likely contributed to a narrowing of earnings disparity.

Table 7 reports changes in earnings for different age and education groupings. The period covered is from 1981 to 1993. It should be noted that the analysis must be split by gender to obtain a clear picture of the changes. The first and perhaps most important observation from this table relates to age. For both men and women there were considerable declines in the absolute and relative earnings of workers aged 17 to 24 and, to a lesser extent, workers aged 25 to 34. In contrast, most workers aged 45 to 54 experienced increasing earnings during this period.

TABLE 7			
PERCENTAGE CHANGE IN REAL AN BY AGE AND EDUCATION, 1981-93 GENDER	inual Earnings 3		
I. All earners	Male	Female	
16 - 24 years —	0.36		
- (J.Z4	0.06	
25 - 34 years -	0.10	0.00	
45 - 54 years	0.02	0.29	
Educational level			
Elementary –	0.20	0.03	
Some high school–	0.12	0.07	
Some postsecondary studies–	D 11	0.19	
- (J.11	0.19 0.00	
Postsecondary certificate-	0.05	0.12 0.06	
University degree-	0.05	0.09	
II. Full-year/full-time workers			
16 - 24 years –	0.14	0.01	
25 - 34 years —	0.07	0.03	
35 - 44 years —	0.05	0.17	
45 - 54 years	0.04	0.05	
Educational level			
Elementary –	0.07	0.08	
Some high school-	0.06	0.06	
Some postsecondary studies-		0.01	
	0.02		
Postsecondary certificate-		0.08 0.02	
University degree–	0.03	0.06	

The changes in earnings across different education groups reported in Table 7 show no clear pattern of increase or decrease in the returns to education. This observation contrasts sharply with findings for the United States, where changes in earnings have been strongly and positively related to education. One possible explanation for the discrepancy is that institutions in Canada may better protect older workers and, as a result, any downward pressure on wages for less educated male workers would appear only among young or less experienced Canadian workers. If this is the case and we assume that Canada is subject to the same fundamental wage pressures as the United States, we should expect changes in Canadian earnings to be much more positively related to education levels among young workers than among the population at large. This is precisely what is found in Bar-Or et al. (1995). In particular, for workers with only one to five years of experience (i.e., mainly young workers), Bar-Or et al. report that the 1980s saw a substantial increase in the relative earnings of university- over high school- educated workers.

In summary, the 1980s and early 1990s have been a period of widening disparity in labour earnings. Part of the greater disparity is due to the fall in earnings for young workers and especially young less educated workers. Notwithstanding the importance of these between-group changes in earnings, it should be emphasized that they do not explain all the observed increase in disparity. In fact, as noted by Morissette, Myles and Picot (1993), an important fraction of the increased disparity in earnings has arisen from disparity within age-education groupings. Therefore, even though older workers have on average fared better than younger workers, there are many older workers who have also experienced substantial deterioration in labour market outcomes.

Weekly Earnings, Hours Worked and Hourly Wages

The previous discussion concerns changes in annual earnings and therefore considers changes in both hours worked and hourly wage rates. To provide an accurate picture of labour market trends, it is useful to break down changes in annual earnings into hours and wage rate components. To this end, we begin by briefly discussing whether changes in weekly earnings mirror changes in annual earnings and how changes in weekly earnings relate to changes in annual weeks worked. We then proceed to describe the decomposition of weekly earnings into weekly hours and hourly wages.

Richardson (1994) documents changes in the distribution of weekly earnings from 1981 to 1992 and reports a pattern of rising inequality very similar to that found for annual earnings. In effect, the similarity between changes in the distribution of weekly and annual earnings can be inferred indirectly from Table 7. As seen in this table, age-related changes are quite similar across the samples of all earners and the sub-sample containing only full-time/full-year workers. Since full-year workers undergo only limited changes in the number of weeks worked, this observation indicates that increased dispersion in weekly earnings has been a factor contributing to the increased dispersion in annual earnings. The increased inequality in annual earnings cannot be attributed exclusively to increased inequality in the number of weeks worked.

Kuhn and Robb (1995) provide further information relevant for understanding how changes in weeks worked has contributed to changes in the distribution of annual earnings. For the period from 1971 to 1991, Kuhn and Robb found changes in weeks worked to be highly positively related to changes in weekly earnings. This finding indicates that variations in weeks worked actually amplified the effect of increased weekly earnings inequality on annual earnings. In particular, Kuhn and Robb's results suggest that the large fall in the bottom quintile of the annual earnings distribution was due to a combined effect of falling weekly earnings and a drop in the number of weeks worked per year.

Morissette (1995) provides information on the breakdown of weekly earnings into its hourly wages and weekly hours components (see also Morissette and Sunter, 1994). Beginning with weekly hours, Morissette documents a substantial hollowing of the weekly hours distribution. For example, over the period from 1981 to 1989, he finds a 9 percent decline in the fraction of male workers working between 35 and 40 hours per week. Simultaneously, he finds an increase of almost 4 percent in the fraction of male workers working more than 50 hours a week. Morissette also reports that the increase in the over-50-hours work week is most prevalent among older and more educated workers, while younger and less educated workers have an increased incidence of part-time work (less than 30 hours per week). These observed changes in the distribution of weekly hours are also found to be quite widespread, arising in most industries and occupations.

Documenting changes in the distribution of hourly wages is somewhat problematic in Canada given the limited reliable data. Nonetheless, using the Survey of Work History (1981) and the Labour Market Activity Survey (1988), Morissette, Myles and Picot (1995) provide information on how the distribution of hourly wages changed between 1981 and 1989, and how these changes are related to changes in the distribution of weekly hours. The overall picture indicates that the distribution of hourly earnings has neither clearly deteriorated nor improved over this period. The finding might at first suggest that the observed increased dispersion in weekly earnings is therefore due entirely to the increased dispersion in weekly hours. However, this is not the case. Although the variance in hourly wages decreased slightly over the period studied, the covariance between hourly wages and weekly hours has increased substantially. This increase in covariance is the main contributor to the increased dispersion of weekly earnings. In fact, for women it is solely because of this increase in covariance that there has been a rise in the variance of weekly earnings.² If we combine information regarding weeks worked and weekly hours, we reach the conclusion that the increased dispersion in annual earnings is due mainly to an increased dispersion in annual hours worked and its increased covariance with hourly wages.

Although the above discussion suggests that there has been no marked change in the overall distribution of hourly wages, such an assumption hides important changes in hourly wages between the different age and education groupings. Morissette, Myles and Picot (1995) document a substantial deterioration of hourly wages for young workers and a marked improvement for older workers, as was the case for annual earnings. This phenomenon may reflect the fall in the proportion of young workers employed in high-wage sectors, such as goods producing sectors and government, and the rise in the proportion of young workers employed in the relatively low-paying sectors of retail trade, food and accommodation (see Riddell, 1996). The pattern is less clear for education categories but it nevertheless suggests that hourly wages for more educated workers increased to some extent, especially for workers with a university degree.

YOUTH ADJUSTMENT, EDUCATION AND FAMILY FORMATION

THE PREVIOUS SECTIONS DOCUMENT how employment and labour earnings have evolved over the last 15 years. One of the most striking features noted is the marked deterioration of labour market conditions for youth. An obvious question is how youth have responded to these changes. In particular, how have the changes affected education decisions, living arrangements and family formation?

Possibly the most notable change over the last 15 years is the significant increase in school enrollment. According to Card and Lemieux (1996), in 1981 approximately one third of youths aged 15 to 24 were enrolled as full-time students. By 1995 slightly more than one half were enrolled, a finding that implies an increase of over 50 percent. In comparison, over the same period, enrollment rates in the United States increased by less than 15 percent. It should be emphasized that Canada started the period with a lower enrollment rate than the United States. However, by around 1990 Canada's youth enrollment rate had caught up to that of the United States, and by 1995 Canada's rate was over 5 percent higher than the U.S. rate. The increased enrollment is strongly reflected in the increase in university attendance. Riddell (1995) reports that in 1982-83 only 20 percent of 18- to 21-year-olds were attending university, while by 1990-91 the figure had risen to over 30 percent.³ The implication is that postsecondary enrollment increased by a phenomenal 70 percent (*Education Quarterly Review*, spring 1996).

The large increase in school enrollment has occurred alongside changes in living arrangements and family formation. For example, Card and Lemieux (1996) report that the proportion of 20-year-old men living with their parents increased from 67 percent in 1981 to over 76 percent in 1994, while the proportion of women living with their parents went from 54 percent to 63 percent.
The decline in the proportion of young adults starting families is even more pronounced. In 1981, about 16 percent of men aged 20 were the head or spouse of their own household; by 1994 that figure had fallen to 8 percent. For women of the same age, the decline was from 31 percent to 20 percent.

A rather clear picture emerges from the behaviour of youth. In response to decreased labour market opportunities, young men and women have continued living with their parents, prolonged formal schooling and postponed family formation. One question that arises is whether the substitution of education for work accounts for most of the fall in employment for this age group. If it does, employment is being replaced by investment in skills. If it does not, declines in employment correspond to increases in non-utilized human resources. To shed some light on this issue, it is helpful to examine changes in inactivity rates for young men and women.⁴ The inactivity rate is the proportion of people who are neither working nor attending school in a reference week. For men aged 15 to 19, the inactivity rate decreased from 14 percent in 1981 to 7 percent in 1988 and finally to 6 percent by 1993. For men aged 20 to 24, the inactivity rate remained close to 20 percent over the entire period. We may thus infer that most of the drop in young men employment has been due to substitution by schooling (full- or part-time) as opposed to inactivity.

The picture for women is slightly more complex since changes in activity rates at least partly reflect changes in child rearing. Not surprisingly, the inactivity rate fell substantially from 1981 to 1993. Even in the sole category of young women without children, we observe that the inactivity rate decreased from 10 percent to 5 percent for females aged 15 to 19, and from 20 to 16 percent for females aged 20 to 24. Again, these patterns support the view that the recent deterioration in labour market conditions have not led to considerable increases in inactivity among young people but have instead pushed them toward prolonging their education.

BY ANY OF A NUMBER OF MEASURES from the data presented in the first section, it seems clear that a wide variety of workers experienced little labour market success in the early years of the 1990s. In making predictions for the next decade, it is clearly necessary to evaluate the extent to which these outcomes are responses to a temporary, if somewhat prolonged, cyclical downturn or represent fundamental, permanent shifts in the labour market. The aim of this section is to shed light on the nature of current changes and, in particular, to determine whether recent changes represent an ongoing process or the adjustment to a major one-time event.

We proceed by examining what has happened to different cohorts as they advance from the age of 25 to 38.⁵ Even though our overriding concern is about outcomes for youth in the next decade, we focus on 25- to 38-year-olds for three main reasons. First and most important, in evaluating impacts of labour market changes on youths we need to know whether the impacts will continue to affect them throughout their working lives. One of the main reasons analysts focus on youth is a concern that bad outcomes at the start of life can permanently scar workers and thus are more important than outcomes at a less sensitive stage of the life cycle. Alternatively, if new employment arrangements in an economy demand more flexibility of young workers but those workers are still able to move into stable work patterns when they are older, concerns about increased turbulence in the youth labour market might be lessened. To understand which of these outcomes is relevant, we need to evaluate labour market experiences of workers as they enter the part of the life cycle immediately after their youth. While youth is a time when we might expect individuals to be flexible and to spend substantial amounts of time investing in education and training, the ensuing years are a time when we might expect individuals to settle into longerterm jobs and accelerating career paths. Understanding whether that transition to more permanent jobs has changed in recent years is an important element in evaluating future prospects for youths.

The second reason for focussing on 25- to 38-year-olds is that there have already been extensive studies of younger workers. There is thus more to be gained from examining the transition period as individuals pass out of their youth. Third, we believe that the work histories of these individuals may be particularly informative about changes occurring in the labour market since this age group has more limited substitution possibilities that younger individuals (especially in terms of education and living arrangements). In effect, by focussing on this age group we can more reasonably interpret changes occurring as a cohort ages in terms of changes in demand as opposed to changes in supply.

Our analysis centres on the changing nature of age-experience profiles for different measures of labour market outcomes. We begin by focussing on annual labour earnings since this is a quite comprehensive measure of labour market performance. In fact, we present results using earnings averaged over samples that include individuals with zero earnings and both self-employed and regularly paid employed workers. Movements in our earnings measures will thus reflect changes in employment rates, weeks worked per year, hours worked per week and hourly wages, as well as movements into and out of self-employment. What we want to know is how the relationship between age and earnings has changed. Has the age-earnings relationship deteriorated for successive cohorts? If so, is the fall decelerating or accelerating? Alternatively, for more recent birth cohorts, do earnings begin at a lower level but grow faster with age? By answering such questions we hope to better isolate the nature of recent change and thereby have a basis on which to project into the future.

Figures 8 through 11 report realized age-earnings profiles for different birth cohorts as they advance from the age of 25 to 38. The figures are given for men and women separately and are divided according to broad education groupings. Our low education group comprises individuals having at most a high school diploma. Our high education category comprises individuals with at least one postsecondary degree or certificate. Note that an individual in our low education category may have some postsecondary education but not a postsecondary degree. The 11 cohorts we follow correspond to individuals aged between 25 and 26 in the years 1972, 1974, 1976, 1978, 1980, 1982, 1984, 1986, 1988, 1990 and 1992. We refer to each of these years as the year of entry of a cohort (since it is the year a given birth cohort enters the 25- to 38-year-old group). The years of observation used are 1981 to 1993; accordingly, different cohorts are within our observation window for different lengths of time. For example, we follow the early cohorts when they are in their thirties, while the later cohorts can be followed only while they are in their twenties. The earnings measure is the real average yearly labour earnings (in 1981 dollars) of all earners within a cohort. The data is drawn from the Survey of Consumer Finances and the exact years of observation are 1981, 1982, 1984, 1986, 1988, 1990, 1992 and 1993.

Several observations emerge immediately from an examination of Figures 8 through 11. First, it is remarkable how much flatter are the age-earnings profiles for women than for men. In particular, women appear to have almost no earnings growth as they age, while there appears to be substantial growth for men. Second, average earnings for men are quite similar at age 25 for the two education categories but increase much faster for workers with higher education.

To obtain a first impression of how age-earnings profiles may change across the different entry cohorts, it is helpful to examine the differences in earnings at a particular age. For example, let us consider highly educated males at age 29. It is clear that earnings at age 29 have been lower for more recent cohorts than early ones, and that the difference is substantial (approximately 25 percent). In contrast, for highly educated females, the cohort ranking is essentially reversed: average earnings at age 29 have been higher for more recent cohorts than earlier ones. These observations suggest that any characterization of changes in age-earnings profiles is likely to be very different for females and males.





39 Τ Τ Τ Т Т Τ 38 37 3635 ത 3433 32 Age 同品 31IC. 30 ſ 1 REAL EARNINGS BY COHORT, FEMALES, LOW EDUCATION į 29 đ 1972 Entry 1974 Entry 1976 Entry 1978 Entry 1980 Entry 1984 Entry 1984 Entry 1988 Entry 1988 Entry 1990 Entry 28 ¢ا≵ 27 m i • ⊲ 4 2625 Earnings (\$000) FIGURE 10

LOOKING BEYOND THE MAJOR TRENDS



The difficulty with making inferences about the ranking of age-earnings profiles by examining different cohorts at a particular age is that the observations are taken at very different points in the business cycle. For example, let us again look at highly educated males at age 29. The observation for the 1988 cohort is taken in 1992, a time of a business cycle trough. Therefore it should not be surprising that this cohort has lower earnings at age 29 than most other cohorts. To make an inference about average labour market opportunities, it is necessary to control for business cycle effects. In Figure 11, this could be done by comparing earnings at age 29 for the 1978 cohort with that of the 1988 cohort since both observations date from years of depressed labour market conditions. We turn next to a more systematic approach to delineating cohort effects while holding constant the effects of the business cycle.

ESTIMATING COHORT-SPECIFIC AGE-EARNINGS PROFILES

EARNINGS OBSERVED FOR WORKERS OF A PARTICULAR AGE (e.g., 29) at a particular time (e.g., 1992) can be conceptually related to three underlying effects. The first of these is what we will term a year effect, that is, an effect common to all workers at that time. The year effect will capture the impact of common events such as recessions. The second effect is what we will call a *cohort effect*; this captures the average earnings level of individuals who entered the mature labour market at a particular time, compared with those who entered at a different time. Knowing the cohort effect, one can assess whether recent labour market entrants are disadvantaged compared with earlier entrants in terms of their average long-run earnings. The third effect is an *ageing effect*; this represents earnings growth that occurs naturally over a worker's life cycle, holding constant any differences across cohorts and any year effects. Earnings for a 29-year-old in 1992 will reflect whether 1992 was a bad year, plus whether the individual entered in a relatively good cohort, plus the fact that this individual is relatively early in his or her life cycle.

Earnings ought to be broken down into each of these components in as flexible a manner as possible. The difficulty with such a decomposition is that the three effects are related through an identity: if we know a person's entry cohort (e.g., the cohort that turned 25 in 1988) and the year in which earnings were observed (e.g., 1992), we can calculate the individual's age exactly (in this case, 29). Econometrically, a flexible representation of the three effects in an earnings regression would include dummy variables corresponding to each age, entry cohort and year of observation. In that case, setting a particular entry cohort and year-of-observation dummy variable to 1 would always imply that a particular age dummy variable would also be set to 1. The result is a singular covariate matrix. The three pieces of information (cohort, age and year) are thus not independent and their effects cannot be independently identified without some extra restriction. The most common approach to this problem is to impose a normalization on one or more of the effects. For example, we could assume that year effects exactly follow the business cycle and that the business cycle can be captured using the unemployment rate. In that case, year of observation dummy variables could be replaced with the unemployment rate and the year effect, cohort effect and age effect variables would no longer add up perfectly. With this normalization, flexible estimation of both age and cohort effects is possible in principle.

In our empirical work, we run regressions of the log of average earnings for a particular cohort in a particular year on a set of variables designed to capture cohort, year and age effects. We impose two restrictions on our specification. First, for parsimony we restrict the age effects to be captured by a quadratic in age. Second, we include a set of dummy variables corresponding to the different years of observation but group 1981 and 1988 together to form a grouped omitted category. The latter restriction reflects an assumption that 1981 and 1988 are at identical stages in the business cycle. It should be noted that this restriction allows us to identify cohort, age and time effects. All year effects are estimated relative to the business cycle stage occurring in 1981. We also include a complete set dummy variables corresponding to each of the 11 cohorts described earlier.

Before discussing results of this estimation, it is worth clarifying the assumptions underlying our specification. First, by allowing for a full set of cohort dummies, we are allowing the age-earnings profile to have a different intercept for each cohort. However, we are not allowing the age-earnings profile to change shape with the different cohorts. Since this assumption is rather restrictive, we explore alternative specifications below. Second, we are restricting the shape of the age-earnings profile to quadratic. Although this is again restrictive, our exploration of alternative specifications has not found it to be unduly so. Third, by allowing for a restricted set of year dummies, as opposed to parameterizing business cycle effect directly as a function of the unemployment rate, we are allowing the effects of the downturn of the 1990s to be arbitrarily different from that associated with the downturn of the 1980s. This approach seems particularly attractive since there is considerable discussion about whether or not the 1990s recession was similar to previous ones. Nonetheless, it should be emphasized that our identifying strategy imposes the assumption that there is no common trend affecting all cohorts between 1981 to 1988.

The results of our decomposition of earnings into cohort, age and time effects are presented in Figures 12 to 15. In Figures 12a to 12d, we plot the estimated value of cohort dummies for different gender and education groupings. The value of a cohort dummy can be interpreted as the average earnings of the cohort at age 25 if the labour market conditions were those prevalent in 1981. In each of these figures we also plot the estimated quadratic trend associated with the cohort effects. The first element to be noted from Figures 12a to 12b is the marked difference in pattern for males and females. In particular, average earnings are successively higher for more recent cohorts of women, while the opposite is true for men.



 $\begin{array}{c} 13.5\\ 13.0\\ 12.5\\ 13.0\\ 12.5\\ 10.0\\ 9.5\\ 10.0\\ 9.5\\ 10.0\\ 9.5\\ 10.0\\ 10.5\\ 10.0\\ 10.5\\ 10.0\\ 10.5\\ 10.0\\ 10.5\\ 10.0\\ 10.5\\ 10.0\\ 10.5\\ 10.0\\ 10.5\\ 10.0\\ 10.5\\ 10.0\\ 10.5\\ 10.0\\ 10.5\\ 10.0\\ 10.5\\ 10.0\\ 10.5\\ 10.0\\ 10.5\\ 10.0\\ 10.5\\ 10.0\\ 10.5\\ 10.0\\ 10.5\\ 10.0\\ 10.5\\ 10.0\\ 10.5\\ 10.0\\ 10.5\\ 10.0\\ 10.5\\ 10.0\\ 10.5\\ 10.0\\ 10.5\\ 10.0\\ 10.5\\ 10.0\\ 10.5\\ 10.0\\ 10.5\\ 10.0\\ 10.5\\ 10.0\\ 10.5\\ 10.0\\ 10.5\\ 10.0\\ 10.5\\ 10.0\\ 10.5\\ 10.0\\ 10.5\\ 10.0\\ 10.5\\ 10.0\\ 10.5\\ 10.0\\ 10.5\\ 10.0\\ 10.5\\ 10.0\\ 10.5\\ 10.0\\ 10.5\\ 10.0\\ 10.5\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.5\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10.0\\ 10$



The pattern revealed by the estimated cohort effects is quite discouraging for young males, and especially so for men with lower education. For both highand low-educated males, a recent cohort is estimated to earn about 30 percent less than a cohort born 20 years earlier. In both cases, there is no sign that the deteriorating labour market outcomes for more recent cohorts is likely to stop or reverse itself in the near future. In fact, the evidence suggests that the fall in earnings for recent cohorts of low-educated males is actually accelerating. It should be recalled that these estimated effects are net of business cycle effects, and their reversal should not therefore be expected simply as a result of the economy's emergence from the prolonged recession of the 1990s. The only possibly hopeful sign in this gloomy picture is the relatively small change in cohort effects for highly educated cohorts reaching the age of 25 in 1988, 1990 and 1992. Viewed in isolation, these estimated effects might indicate that future cohorts of highly educated males can expect no further deterioration in earnings levels. Viewed as part of the overall trend, however, they appear as a brief pause in a sharp decline.

The pattern of cohort effects for women reveals that more recent cohorts earn 15 percent to 20 percent more than earlier cohorts. However, the evidence also suggests that the increase in earnings for younger women is tapering off, with very little discernible change since the mid-1980s. A comparison of the pattern between men and women also reveals the extent of convergence in earnings. For example, the male-female earnings differential for the 1972 cohort was approximately 70 percent, while it was less than 20 percent for the 1992 cohort.

Figures 13a to 13b plot the estimated year effects for our four gendereducation pairs. The value of a year effect can be interpreted as the average earnings at age 25 in different years if no cohort effects were present. In all four figures, a standard business cycle pattern is observed, with a first trough between 1982 and 1984 and a second trough in 1992 and 1993. One interesting observation is that the trough of the 1990s recession appears worse, for all groupings, than that of the early 1980s recession. It is remarkable how the amplitude of business cycle effects is very different for men and women. The lower-educated males display the largest cyclical sensitivity of female earnings appears considerably milder in comparison. This might be viewed as surprising since women are typically supposed to be less committed to the labour market and thus more likely to react strongly to business cycle fluctuations. However, the lack of cyclicality might reflect greater female flexibility as women move into the labour force in recessions as part of the "added worker" effect.

Figures 14a to 14b plot our estimates of the cohort-specific age-earnings profile, after controlling for business cycle effects. As might be expected from the information contained in Figures 12a to 12b, the age-earnings profiles are successively lower for more recent cohorts of men, while they are successively higher for cohorts of women. The slope of the age-earnings profiles are also quite different across groups. In particular, higher-educated males exhibit substantial earnings growth (in the range of 40 percent to 50 percent) as they advance from 25 to 35 years of age. In contrast, lower-educated women gain only about 10 percent over these years.

One important restriction we imposed when estimating the age-earnings profiles presented in Figure 14 is that the slope of these profiles has not changed over time. In particular, this restriction rules out the possibility that more recent cohorts, especially men, may start at a lower level of earnings but experience more earnings growth as they age. To explore such a possibility, we re-estimated our cohort-specific age-earnings profiles allowing for the age profile to change with the different cohorts. The results from this alternative specification are presented in Figures 15a to 15d.⁶

Before commenting on Figure 15, we should mention that we did not find much statistically significant evidence in favour of the hypothesis that the slope of the age-earnings profiles changed between cohorts. Nonetheless, we believe that the results presented in Figures 15a to 15d are interesting because of the direction of the estimated effects. In particular, for men the results are actually contrary to the view that more recent cohorts enter at lower levels of earnings and experience faster growth as they age. In effect, we find that more recent cohorts exhibit slightly less growth as they age. It is also interesting to note that this evidence to some extent contradicts the view that recent changes in the labour market largely reflect an increase in the skills premium; if this were the case, we should observe an increase in the slope of age-earnings relationship for the younger cohorts to reflect the increased value of experience.

The pattern of female age-earnings profiles presented in Figures 15a and 15b also provide an alternative view of the changes occurring between cohorts. For example, from these figures it appears that the improvement in earnings for younger cohorts of women was mainly a phenomenon of the 1970s. Since 1982, it appears that the new cohorts of women may actually be losing ground in comparison to their slightly older counterparts. In this respect, the evidence suggests that newer cohorts of women may have begun experiencing a pattern of change similar to that occurring for men.

In overview, the evidence presented in Figures 12 through 15 suggests the following for men: younger cohorts are successively earning less; far from being temporary, this phenomenon is ongoing and may actually be accelerating for less educated men; and more recent cohorts are not catching up with older cohorts as they age and may be losing more ground. In contrast, recent cohorts of women are earning more than their counterparts of 20 years ago, but the earnings increase has come to a halt and may actually have begun reversing itself.













LOOKING BEYOND THE MAJOR TRENDS



LOOKING BEYOND THE MAJOR TRENDS









EARNINGS COHORT EFFECT FOR FULL-YEAR/ FULL-TIME WORKERS

As discussed earlier, the earnings measure used in the above cohort analysis reflects a wide variety of effects. In particular, movements in the measure will reflect movements in employment and hours as well as hourly wages. In this section and the next, we attempt to understand the sub-component changes that are driving the movements in overall earnings. As a first step, we present estimated cohort effects for the earnings of full-year/full-time workers. Since all of the individuals used in constructing these earnings measures work, the measure will not directly reflect changes in employment. This is particularly important in comparing men and women since, given the employment rate pattern presented in the first section, changes in employment are likely to be a very important determinant of overall earnings movements for women but not for men. The effects of movements in hours per week and weeks worked per year will also have reduced impacts on full-year/full-time worker earnings. This allows us to focus more directly on the price of labour, holding quantity movements aside. The main drawback of using earnings for full-year/full-time workers is that selection into and out of the sample caused by lay-offs, hirings, etc. will cause selection bias. Thus, full-year/full-time earnings may actually go up in recessionary periods if the least able workers are laid off first. This complicates the task of drawing precise conclusions. It should be noted that the earlier earnings measure, since it pertains to the whole population, does not suffer from selection effect problems.

Figures 16a to 16b present plots of cohort effects for average earnings for full-year/full-time workers. The estimated cohort effects come from a log earnings regression specification that is exactly the same as that used in estimating cohort-specific age-earnings profiles. In particular, it includes a quadratic in age, year-specific dummy variables with 1981 and 1988 assumed to be equal, and a complete set of cohort dummy variables. The estimated coefficients on the latter form the basis for the plots in Figure 16. The main observation from Figure 16 is that the female cohort trends are reversed relative to those in Figure 12. Females face a negative trend in cohort effects for both high- and low-educated workers. The trend for low-educated females is moderate but the trend for more educated women is similar to that for more educated men. The trends for men in Figure 16 are very similar to those for men in Figure 12. The main conclusion to be drawn from this figure, though, is that strong upward trends in visible earnings for all females are due entirely to employment growth effects. Trends in wages, holding constant hours and employment effects, are similarly negative for men and women.









COHORT PATTERNS IN EMPLOYMENT AND JOB STABILITY

THE PREVIOUS SECTION EXAMINED how recent cohorts fare in terms of annual labour earnings. It is useful to know whether the observed changes in earnings are associated mainly with changes in employment (as opposed to wages) in order to assess how people may find means of adjusting. Similarly, there is substantial concern in society about whether the paradigm defining relations between workers and firms is changing and how people will need to adjust to such change. It could therefore be valuable to ask whether more recent cohorts have less job stability or more part-time employment than previous cohorts. To answer these questions, we proceed in a similar manner to that used in describing cohort-specific changes in earnings. For all labour force measures examined in this section, we again estimate a regression specification that includes a quadratic in age, year-specific dummy variables with 1981 and 1988 effects restricted to be the same, and a full set of cohort-specific dummy variables.

We begin by examining the cohort pattern in employment rates, that is, the cohort pattern in the fraction of individuals employed in a given week. As before, after controlling for business cycle conditions, we seek to document how recent cohorts compare with older ones in terms of employment rates. Figures 17a to 17b plot estimated cohort dummies associated with employment rates. The value of a cohort dummy should now be interpreted as the employment rate at age 25 of a cohort if labour market conditions were similar to those in 1981. Once again, the estimated cohort pattern differs sharply by gender. For women, there is a marked increase over time, indicating that more recent cohorts have higher employment rates than older cohorts. The increase is particularly noticeable for lower-educated women. The 1992 cohort of low-educated women has an employment rate close to 30 percent higher than a cohort from the early 1970s.

The cohort pattern for men is substantially different from that for women. For higher-educated men there is essentially no evidence of a trend in employment rates across cohorts. This may seem surprising at first given the well-documented fact that young workers currently experience high unemployment and low employment rates. However, it must be emphasized that our estimated cohort effects are net of aggregate business cycle effects. Hence the evidence presented in Figure 17d suggests that recent cohorts of educated males do not fare worse than previous cohorts but that all cohorts are currently experiencing declines in employment rates.

The only group for which there appears to be a decreasing pattern in the employment rate is lower-educated males. For this group, the employment rate has dropped from 80 percent for the 1972 cohort to close to 74 percent for the 1992 cohort, a quite sizeable decline. Again, one of the interesting facts that emerges when comparing the figures is the degree of convergence between the employment rates for men and women. For higher-educated workers, the employment rate is essentially identical for recent cohorts of males and females.

To clarify the changing nature of employment relationships, Figures 18 and 19 provide information on measures related to the stability of work. In particular, Figures 18a to 18d report cohort patterns related to changes in the fraction of workers working full-time/full-year, and Figures 19a to 19d report similar information on the average duration of current jobs (average job tenure). Thus, after controlling for business cycle effects, in Figure 18 the value of a cohort dummy represents the fraction of workers from different cohorts working full-time/full-year at the age of 25.

The cohort pattern that emerges for the full-time/full-year rate is quite similar to that observed for the employment rate. For higher-educated men there is no clear trend, while for lower-educated men there is a substantial decline in the full-time/full-year rate. In contrast, for more recent cohorts of women the rate of full-time/full-year employment appears to be higher, especially in the case of more educated women. The decline in full-time/full-year employment for lower-educated males is again quite substantial. The likelihood that an individual will have a full-time/full-year job is 10 percent lower for a man from the 1992 cohort than his counterpart from the early 1970s.

Figure 19 provides a more direct look at the changing nature of employment relations since it reports information on how long jobs last for more recent cohorts. The main finding to emerge from this figure is that patterns now show similarity more by education group than by gender. For both lowereducated women and men, there appears to be a substantial decline in job tenure for cohorts entering after 1982. In contrast, for higher-educated workers there is virtually no evidence of such a trend. By itself this evidence offers little support for the idea of a profound switch in the nature of the employment relationship: if such a shift was occurring, we should observe it affecting new cohorts of highly educated workers, but we do not observe any such thing.

The overall picture that emerges from our cohort analysis of labour market outcomes is one of considerable heterogeneity. At one end of the spectrum we have recent cohorts of higher-educated women who experience increased earnings for all individuals, increased employment and increased or unchanged job stability. At the other end of the spectrum we have recent cohorts of lowereducated males with decreased earnings, employment and job stability. In between these two extremes, we have higher-educated males who experience decreased earnings but no substantial decrease in employment or job stability. Finally we have lower-educated women, who generally follow the same pattern as for higher-educated women except that they appear to be losing job stability.

Identifying the effects of a technological change is, of course, very difficult. In most studies, those effects are taken to be what is left after more easily measurable causes (such as shifts in industrial composition of employment) have been addressed. Accordingly the technological change effects reflect any measurement errors and errors arising from overly restrictive functional form assumptions.











FIGURE 19b

COHORT EFFECT FOR AVERAGE JOB TENURE, FEMALES, HIGH EDUCATION, 1972-1992







A more direct attempt to measure technological change impacst will depend crucially on the definition of technological change. In the broadest sense, we can define an economy's technology to include not only the technical specifications embodied in physical capital but also work arrangements, institutions, etc. Such a broad definition fits with treating technological change impacts as the residual in an empirical analysis, but it provides the analyst with little of value for understanding the source of trends. Authors who have attempted to provide a more focussed definition of technological change have tended to concentrate on the computer revolution as the source of change in the 1980s and 1990s.

It would obviously be desirable to have a unified explanation of all recent changes in the labour market. Three main theories seem potentially reasonable, though none appears to us to provide a complete explanation for all or even most of the patterns discussed in the first section. The two most common interpretations in the existing literature revolve around the idea that what we are observing is the outcome of a shift in demand, and particularly a shift in demand favouring more skilled workers. The basis for this claim comes from what is sometimes called the "Econ 1" test: both earnings and employment outcomes have worsened for less skilled compared with more skilled workers. In a simple demand-and-supply framework, such a common movement in both price and quantity results only from a demand shift. The two main explanations differ in their identification of the cause of the relative shift: according to one, it is a "skilled-biased" technological change, while according to the other it is increased trade-related competition from low-wage countries. Whatever the underlying cause, the outcomes are mainly in terms of changes in employment as opposed to changes in hourly wages. The limited response of wages is potentially due to institutional rigidities as well as labour supply responses in the form of prolonged education. In particular, the large increase in the supply of educated workers helps explain why there has not been substantial wage increases for highly educated workers in response to favourable demand conditions.

A third possible explanation for observed changes over the last 25 years focuses on the substantial increase in the labour market attachment of women. This additional transformation of society provides the basis for understanding the divergent pattern of outcomes by gender. In fact, for the female labour market, the effects of changes in attachment appear to dominate any effects resulting from changes in skills-related demand patterns. The dominant pattern that emerges for women, once cyclical effects are disregarded, is mainly one of rather successful integration.
LOOKING FORWARD

WE TURN NOW TO THE TASK OF USING THE INFORMATION presented earlier in order to project into the future. We do this in two stages. In the first stage, we discuss predictions for the short run of about five years. These are short-term predictions of what we feel are the dominant trends in the labour market, and we believe that the predictions are plausible under a variety of scenarios and do not depend heavily on the actual underlying cause of change. Predicting further into the future requires assumptions about the underlying causes of the observed trends and how individuals are likely to adjust. Unfortunately, there is no clear consensus on the underlying causes. Accordingly, in the second stage of our analysis we set out two scenarios for the longer run, based on different hypotheses about the fundamental forces currently driving the economy.

SHORT-TERM PREDICTIONS

ONE OF THE MOST STRIKING THEMES EMPHASIZED in the previous two sections is the collapse of earnings levels for younger workers. Declines in average real earnings are observable in particular for men under the age of 35. The rise in female participation and hours worked over this period partly masks similar patterns for women. As previously noticed, however, if we focus on fullyear/full-time workers, the same pattern of decline in real earnings is noticeable for young females. These declines are relatively continuous throughout the 1980s and appear to have accelerated in the 1990s.

To predict whether these earnings declines will continue, we need to separate apparently permanent negative outcomes for more recent labour market entrants from the general effects of the recession of the 1990s. Without such a separation, we are in danger of creating too gloomy a prediction simply because the most recent observations we have to work with occurred during a prolonged recession. In our analysis presented in the third section, we carried out an empirical exercise that permits such a separation for workers aged 25 to 38. In that section we argued that this is an interesting group on which to focus because it represents a crucial period in the life cycle, when we expect individuals to make a transition into a stable, long-term work pattern. If outcomes for this group are poor, predictions for new labour market entrants are indeed grim. We find a continual decline in the earnings levels of successive cohorts of male labour market entrants over the last 15 years, even after holding constant earnings changes associated with the business cycle and movements along a natural life cycle earnings path. For females, cohort effects estimated from average earnings numbers that include zero values for non-workers show the opposite pattern: a continual rise. Once we focus only on full-year/full-time workers, however, females also show a continual drop in cohort-specific earnings levels over time.

LOOKING FORWARD

One might predict or hope that these sharply negative patterns apply only to the least educated workers. In fact, the decline affects more educated as well as less educated males; the only difference is that it seems to be accelerating for the latter while the former experience a smooth, continual decline. For female full-year/full-time workers, the decline is faster for more educated rather than less educated workers. This situation reflects the fact that in Canada (unlike the United States), there has been no substantial rise in returns to education in the last 15 years.

How would we project these trends into the future? For the least educated workers in particular, we see no evidence in the data to suggest that the earnings trends will slow down. Indeed, as mentioned above, the trends seem to be accelerating. For the more educated there is some slight evidence that the decline might have slowed for the most recent entry cohorts but this may only be a wishful reading of our graphs and certainly has no sound statistical basis. It seems reasonable to predict that real earnings levels will continue to decline for young workers in the short term. Having a higher education level may moderate the decline, but only slightly. Note that this is a discussion of cohort effects, i.e., long-term average earnings levels for a group of workers entering the mature labour market at the same time. If the current poor labour market conditions continue, the predicted declines for future new cohorts will be amplified by negative effects for all workers. If the Canadian labour market recovers from its depressed state, new entrants may generally have higher earnings than did their counterparts in the early 1990s but they will have lower earnings than cohorts at a similar point in the business cycle. Finally, we find no evidence that declines in entry-level earnings for new cohorts will be offset by faster earnings growth in the first part of their career. On the contrary, we find that newer cohorts suffer both in their initial earnings level and through a slower rate of growth of earnings.

The sharp decline in earnings levels across cohorts leads us to question whether there has been a general collapse in the labour market for young workers, showing up in employment outcomes and types of employment relationships, as well as in earnings. In our view, there is a popular notion that the Canadian economy is undergoing a so-called paradigm shift in employment relations. This presumably takes the form of a shift toward more short-term, part-time jobs and more self-employment. We do not find evidence to support such a general shift. If such a shift has occurred, it should show up in the cohort-specific component of the employment rate, job tenure and the proportion of workers who are full-year/full-time in our analysis in the third section. Further, to claim that something as substantial as a paradigm shift has occurred, we believe that one would have to witness significant changes for all types of workers. For low-educated males there are, in fact, substantial negative trends in the cohort effects estimated from employment rates, job tenure and the proportion of workers who are full-year/full-time. This indicates that more recent low-educated male entrants can expect poorer outcomes in these aspects over the long term than those who entered the mature labour market in the 1970s or 1980s. However, there is no evidence of a significant negative trend in these measures for more educated males, and there are persistent positive trends in several of the measures for females. We do not deny the poor performance in terms of employment outcomes experienced by young workers in the 1990s. The benefit of our analysis is that we can assess whether these difficulties are the result of general problems associated with an economic downturn, the natural high turnover experienced among young workers, or more permanent negative effects for more recent entrants. Our assessment is that, apart from low-educated males, the recent poor performance does not signal permanently poorer outcomes for newer entrants in terms of employability and job stability. Accordingly, our second main short-term prediction is that we do not foresee a paradigm shift in the nature of labour market relations. Note that for males, the implication of our analysis is that there is an important increase in the return to a higher education in Canada; however, this increased return comes in terms not of earnings but instead improved prospects for stable work arrangements.

In light of the trends facing new cohorts (i.e., reduced earnings propects for all and decreased prospects for traditional employment relationships for lower-educated males), how may youth be expected to behave? First and most obvious, we believe that the recent increases in educational enrollment are likely to continue. In the past, the enrollment level has performed like a ratchet, with intermittent sharp increases followed by periods of slow growth or relative stability but never by decreases. This one-way movement suggests a process in which increases in enrollment "up the ante" in the labour market and all future generations are forced to meet that new, higher level. There is no reason to suppose that current increases in enrollment will be any different; and given our predictions for other trends in the low-educated labour market, there is every reason to believe that the increases will continue. Accordingly, we expect continual pressure for postsecondary education to expand and especially to maintain accessibility given the more limited resources of new cohorts. Second, there will be further postponement of family formation for a large segment of the youth population as a result of reduced earning capacity. Third, the poor labour market propects for young lower-educated males are likely to limit their social integration, with the possibility of significant negative side-effects such as increased crime rates and homelessness for this segment of the population. The increasingly poor outcomes for this group, plus continued polarization in earnings and employment, are also likely to generate increased social tensions between generations as well as within younger generations in the near future.

LONGER-TERM PREDICTIONS

TO MAKE LONG-TERM PREDICTIONS, it would obviously be desirable to have a unified explanation of the recent changes in the labour market. Three main theories seem potentially reasonable, though none seems to provide a complete explanation for all of the patterns discussed in the second and third sections. The two most common interpretations revolve around the idea that we are observing a shift in labour demand, and in particular a shift in demand that favours more skilled workers. The basis for this assertion comes from a very simple supply-and-demand interpretation. Since both earnings and employment outcomes have worsened for less skilled relative to more skilled workers, in a demand-and-supply framework one can explain such a common movement as the result of a demand shift. The two main causes given for this demand shift are (1) skill-biased technological change and (2) increased globalization of markets and, especially, increased competition from low-wage countries.

A third possible explanation for the observed changes over the last 25 years focusses on the substantial increase in the labour market attachment of women combined with the passage of the baby boom generation through the age structure. This explanation of change is based on increased labour supply and its associated general equilibrium repercussions. The attraction of the explanation is that it potentially offers a unified approach for understanding the extremely gender-divergent pattern of outcomes. In fact, for the female labour market, the effects of changes in attachment appear to outweigh any effects resulting from changes in skills-related demand patterns. The dominant pattern that emerges for women, once cyclical effects are eliminated, is mainly one of rather successful integration.

Which of these scenarios appears most relevant? In our view, there is very little evidence in the Canadian data supporting the skills-biased technological change explanation. Studies that emphasize this explanation use it to predict that there should be an increase in returns in terms of earnings to skills of all kinds: education- and experience-related skills as well as skills that are not observable in a standard data set. We find almost no evidence of increased earnings differentials across education groups over time. While we find some evidence of increased earnings differentials across very broad age groups (i.e. workers over age 35 versus youths), when following a particular cohort we find no evidence of increased returns to experience. This again reflects the advantage of our empirical approach of separating out cohort, age and time effects. It is true that there are increasing differentials between older and younger workers at particular times but the increase is due to declining cohort effects, not increasing age profiles. For skill-biased technological change to explain the patterns we observe, one would have to argue that the new technologies favour workers who entered the mature labour market in the early 1980s, and that newer entrants cannot reach the more favoured status as they gain experience. This is clearly not what is meant by skill-biased technical change as discussed in the existing literature. Further, the technical change is often attributed to the impact of the computer revolution. It seems particularly dubious to claim that older cohorts have an advantage over new cohorts in their ability to adapt to and use computer technology. Finally, the point at which trends in inequality and changes in the earnings structure begin in our estimates is the early 1980s. Again, this seems a particularly bad fit with the computer revolution.⁷ Hence, we choose to dismiss this explanation and concentrate on contrasting the predictions implied by the two alternative explanations.

If we interpret recent changes as mainly the result of increased international competition in both capital and labour markets, it appears reasonable to predict that the trends defined in the second and third sections will continue and possibly even accelerate - largely because globalization shows no sign of abating within the next 10 to 15 years. The opening up of China and the rebuilding of Eastern Europe are in themselves sufficiently important to ensure that it continues. In this case, our predictions for the longer term are very similar to those we discussed for the short term. Ongoing competition with low-skilled overseas labour will continue to generate poor outcomes for young and low-skilled Canadian workers, showing up in continued absolute declines in real earnings for this group and continued deterioration of employment outcomes for the least skilled. We again foresee high demand for postsecondary education as the only means for youth to slow down their relative decline. The net outcome will be increased polarization of earnings and of total income as the returns to capital, and more particularly to firm ownership, are bid up by the international competition. This polarization is likely to create enormous tensions between generations and social classes, and to place new demands on the Canadian redistribution system. In brief, under this scenario Canada will probably have an income distribution more like that of the United States within 10 to 15 years.

The second scenario identifies a different main determinant of the pattern observed for earnings and employment over the last 15 years: the large labour force increases generated by the entry of the mass of the baby boom into labour force ages and also by the strong rise in female participation. The increase in the labour force could have general equilibrium effects leading to increased labour demand and making possible the strong upward trends in employment rates among females. At the same time, the new entrants compete most directly with low-skilled males and could cause the relatively poor outcomes for that group, playing the same role as competition from overseas unskilled labour in the first scenario. It should be noted that, in general, a supply-based explanation such as this one is rejected in the existing literature because we observe both declining earnings and employment. While this holds true for unskilled males, for unskilled females we find a pattern of declining earnings but increasing employment. It should also be noted that more educated males and females in Canada face a pattern of decreases in earnings across successive

LOOKING FORWARD

cohorts, along with stable or increasing employment. This finding fits with a supply shock varying by entry cohort. Indeed, under the most generous interpretation of our estimates, the decline in earnings levels for educated males has stopped for the three most recent entry cohorts, coinciding with the educated cohorts for whom the upward trend in employment has stopped. In contrast, employment rates for unskilled females continue to rise across recent entry cohorts, and the earnings levels of unskilled males continue to fall for recent cohorts. All of these findings fit well with results in Fortin and Lemieux (1996) for the United States; they note that increased earnings inequality is evident in the male labour market but that once male and female outcomes are combined, the often-studied trend toward more inequality is not so evident.

While this second scenario shares with the first the assumption that large increases in competition among unskilled labourers is the source of poor outcomes for unskilled males, there is an essential difference in the level of optimism associated with predictions generated from each scenario. Predictions from the first scenario are pessimistic because there is no reason to believe that the competition from overseas will abate. In contrast, we see evidence that the upward trend in female participation is slowing or stalling. In particular, participation rates for young females are already very close to those of males and therefore are unlikely to continue increasing substantially. If this is true, we



would predict that earnings for new cohorts are likely to stop falling relative to older cohorts, and that employment prospects for younger less-educated males may improve. This shift in turn could indicate a slowing increase in school enrollment rates and in delayed family formation. We do not, however, predict an absolute turnaround and recovery in the fortunes of new entrants, to the extent of a return to the levels of cohorts who entered in the early 1970s and 1980s. Society thus must still adjust to a situation with more inequality, delayed family formation and higher school enrollment than in the 1970s and early 1980s – even though many of our current redistributive and labour market institutions were created under quite different conditions in those earlier times. Nonetheless, such a challenge seems much easier to tackle than one of continually increasing polarization.

The truth probably is a combination of the two scenarios. Canadian workers will continue to be affected by competition from unskilled labour overseas, but domestic sources of increased supply will dry up. If that is true, then (to the extent that foreign competition is focussed on the least skilled) employment and earnings outcomes for more educated males and females will be more favourable, or at least no less favourable, compared with what was observed in the 1990s. Less-educated males, and perhaps less-educated females, will continue to face deterioration in their outcomes. The results could be continuing polarization across education groups and continuing increases in demand for education.

CONCLUSION

IN OUR ANALYSIS OF THE LABOUR MARKET, we have attempted to provide a useful summary of past trends and a discussion of how to project the trends into the next decade or more. We find five defining features of changes in the labour market over the last 15 years:

- First, there have been strong and persistent declines in earnings potential for virtually all types of workers. These trends are masked by increases in employment and hours worked among females; but once one focuses on full-year/full-time workers, the declines are evident for females as well. There is no evidence of the type of sharp increase in returns to education visible in the United States in this period.
- Second, the declines are partly due to a depressed labour market in the 1990s but they also reflect a relative decline in longer-term outcomes for recent labour market entrants. New entrants in the 1990s face a 20 percent to 30 percent lower level of real earnings over their lifetime than individuals who entered the mature (i.e., over age 25) labour force in the 1970s.
- Third, up to 1989 there has been a prolonged increase in participation and employment rates among females over the age of 25, but those trends have stalled in the 1990s.
- Fourth, employment outcomes for men differ sharply by education level: for the least educated, employment rates, average job duration and the proportion working full-year/full-time fall across successive entry cohorts, but for the more educated they stay constant. Given the lack of pervasive movement toward more unstable work patterns across age, education and gender groups, we regard as overstated the claims that there has been, or will soon be, a paradigm shift in the labour market.
- Fifth, perhaps in response to some of the above changes, there have been very substantial increases in school enrollment among youths plus delays in family formation. Overall, we derive a very heterogeneous picture of the last 15 years. Youths have suffered declines in real earnings. Young males have, in addition, suffered strong negative trends in employment outcomes. More education has helped young males escape negative employment outcomes but has not alleviated the negative real earnings trend. For females, the picture is dominated by the successful integration of large numbers of new entrants into the labour force.

CONCLUSION

In forming predictions, we divide our analysis into short- and longer-run forecasts. In the short run, we see continued negative trends in earnings for all young workers and in employment for the least skilled males. The increase in school enrollment levels will probably also continue. On the other hand, the long historic rise in female participation and employment rates appears to have stalled, especially for more educated females. In the longer run, it is necessary to explain the underlying causes of existing trends and how those causes will themselves change in order to make useful predictions. To this end we discuss two main theories. According to the first, increased competition from foreign unskilled labour has driven the trends, especially the negative trends for unskilled males. If that scenario is true, we predict a continuation of the trends we forecast for the short run, because there is no reason to believe there will be any abatement in overseas competition. The second scenario attributes observed trends to substantial increases in the labour force generated by the ageing of the baby boom and the increase in female participation rates over the last 15 years. If this scenario is true, many of the observed trends may moderate or stop since the baby boom entry into the labour force has stopped and we believe the female participation rate may have reached a plateau. With less competition from new labour market entrants, unskilled males may see an end to the substantial fall in their earnings and employment outcomes. We view this as a more optimistic scenario for the future. The truth is probably a combination of the two, with unskilled labour in Canada continuing to be affected by overseas competition but being relieved of the competition from increasing domestic sources of labour supply.

Notes

- 1 Figures 1 through 3 are based on data from CANSIM.
- 2 The variance of weekly hours actually decreased for women, reflecting the fact that more part-time workers worked more hours.
- 3 The gender mix of university students has also changed. In particular, by 1994 the graduating class was composed of four women for every three men (see *Education Quarterly Review*, spring 1996).
- 4 Our calculation of inactivity rates is derived from the Survey of Consumer Finances.
- 5 For related work on cohorts aged 25 to 34, see Susan Crompton, "Employment prospects for high school graduates," in *Education Quarterly Review*, Vol. 3, No. 1 (spring 1996).
- 6 More precisely, we modified the previous specification to include an interaction term between age and cohort in order to allow the slope of the age-earnings relationship to change in a linear fashion over time. To estimate this effect as precisely as possible, we also restricted the cohort-level effects to be a quadratic function of cohort time.
- 7 In the broadest sense, an economy's technology can be defined to include not only the technical specifications embodied in physical capital but also work arrangements, institutions, etc. Such a broad definition fits with the common empirical practice of treating technological change impacts as the residual after competing measurable effects are addressed, but it provides the analyst with little of value for understanding the source of trends. Using such a broad approach to technology, it is always possible to define technological change in a way that fits the observed data. We focus on what we perceive to be the main, more narrow definition of technical change in the literature: a change, possibly related to the computer revolution, which is complementary to skilled labour and a substitute for unskilled labour.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Bar-Or, Y., J. Burbidge, L. Magee, and L. Robb. "The Wage Premium to a University Education in Canada, 1971-1991." *Journal of Labor Economics*, 13, 4 (1995): 762-94.
- Betcherman, G. and R. Morissette. Recent Youth Labour Market Experiences in Canada. Analytical Studies Branch, Statistics Canada, Research Paper No. 63, 1994.
- Butlin, G. "Adult Women's Participation Rate at a Standstill." *Perspectives on Labour and Income.* Ottawa: Statistics Canada, (autumn 1995): 30-33.
- Card, D. and T. Lemieux. "Multiple Modes of Adjustment: A Comparative Study of Youth in the U.S. and Canada, 1970-1995." 1996, mimeo.
- Crompton, S. "The Renaissance of Self-Employment." Perspectives on Labour and Income, Ottawa: Statistics Canada, (summer 1993): 22-32.
- Fortin, N. and T. Lemieux. "Rank Regressions, Wage Distributions, and the Gender Gap." University of Montreal: Centre de Recherche et Développement en Économique (CRDE), working paper 1096, 1996.
- Green, D. A. and W. C. Riddell. "Job Durations in Canada: Is Long Term Employment Declining?" Centre for Research on Economic and Social Policy, University of British Columbia, Discussion Paper DP-40, 1996.
- Kaliski, S. F. "Trends, Changes and Imbalances: A Survey of the Canadian Labour Market." in Work and Pay: The Canadian Labour Market, ed. W.C. Riddell, pp. 77-140. Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 1985.
- Krahn, H. "Non-standard Work on the Rise." Perspectives on Labour and Income, Ottawa: Statistics Canada, (winter 1995): pp. 35-42.
- Kuhn, P. and L. Robb. "Unemployment, Skill and Labor Supply: Evidence from Canadian Microdata, 1971-1991." 1995, mimeo.
- Morissette, R., J. Myles, and G. Picot. What is Happening to Earnings Inequality in Canada. Statistics Canada Analytical Studies Branch, Research Paper No. 60, 1993.
- Morissette, R. and D. Sunter. What is Happening to Weekly Hours Worked in Canada? Statistics Canada Analytical Studies Branch, Research Paper No. 65, 1994.
- Morissette, R. Why Has Inequality in Weekly Earnings Increased in Canada? Statistics Canada Analytical Studies Branch, Research Paper No. 80, 1995.
- Morissette, R. and C. Bérubé. *Longitudinal Aspects of Earnings Inequality in Canada*. Statistics Canada Analytical Studies Branch, Research Paper No. 94, 1996.
- Richardson, D. Changes in the Distribution of Wages in Canada, 1981-1992. University of British Columbia, Working paper No. 94-22, 1994.
- Riddell, W. C. "Work and Pay: The Canadian Labour Market: An Overview." in Work and Pay: The Canadian Labour Market, ed. W. C. Riddell, pp. 1-75. Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 1985.
 - ____. "Human Capital Formation in Canada: Recent Developments and Policy Responses." in Keith G. Banting and Charles Beach (eds.), Labor Market Polarization and Social Policy Reform, Kingston: School of Policy Studies, Queen's University, 1995.
 - ___. "Sectoral Structural Change and the State of the Labour Market in Canada." Department of Economics, University of British Columbia, 1996, mimeo.

Industry Canada Research Publications

WORKING PAPER SERIES

- No. 1 Economic Integration in North America: Trends in Foreign Direct Investment and the Top 1,000 Firms, Industry Canada, Micro-Economic Policy Analysis Staff including John Knubley, Marc Legault and P. Someshwar Rao, 1994.
- No. 2 Canadian-Based Multinationals: An Analysis of Activities and Performance, Industry Canada, Micro-Economic Policy Analysis Staff including P. Someshwar Rao, Marc Legault and Ashfaq Ahmad, 1994.
- No. 3 International R&D Spillovers Between Industries in Canada and the United States, Jeffrey I. Bernstein, Carleton University and National Bureau of Economic Research, under contract with Industry Canada, 1994.
- No. 4 The Economic Impact of Mergers and Acquisitions on Corporations, Gilles Mcdougall, Micro-Economic Policy Analysis, Industry Canada, 1995.
- No. 5 Steppin' Out: An Analysis of Recent Graduates Into the Labour Market, Ross Finnie, School of Public Administration, Carleton University and Statistics Canada, 1995.
- No. 6 Measuring the Compliance Cost of Tax Expenditures: The Case of Research and Development Incentives, Sally Gunz, University of Waterloo, Alan Macnaughton, University of Waterloo, and Karen Wensley, Ernst & Young, Toronto, under contract with Industry Canada, 1996.
- No. 7 Governance Structure, Corporate Decision-Making and Firm Performance in North America, P. Someshwar Rao and Clifton R. Lee-Sing, Micro-Economic Policy Analysis, Industry Canada, 1996.
- No. 8 Foreign Direct Investment and APEC Economic Integration, Ashfaq Ahmad, P. Someshwar Rao and Colleen Barnes, Micro-Economic Policy Analysis, Industry Canada, 1996.
- No. 9 World Mandate Strategies for Canadian Subsidiaries, Julian Birkinshaw, Institute of International Business, Stockholm School of Economics, under contract with Industry Canada, 1996.
- No. 10 **R&D Productivity Growth in Canadian Communications Equipment and Manufacturing**, Jeffrey I. Bernstein, Carleton University and National Bureau of Economic Research, under contract with Industry Canada, 1996.
- No. 11 Long-Run Perspective on Canadian Regional Convergence, Serge Coulombe, Department of Economics, University of Ottawa, and Frank C. Lee, Industry Canada, 1996.

- No. 12 Implications of Technology and Imports on Employment and Wages in Canada, Frank C. Lee, Industry Canada, 1996.
- No. 13 The Development of Strategic Alliances in Canadian Industries: A Micro Analysis, Sunder Magun, Applied International Economics, 1996.
- No. 14 Employment Performance in the Knowledge-Based Economy, Surendra Gera, Industry Canada, and Philippe Massé, Human Resources Development Canada, 1996.
- No. 15 **The Knowledge-Based Economy: Shifts in Industrial Output**, Surendra Gera, Industry Canada, and Kurt Mang, Department of Finance, 1997.
- No. 16 Business Strategies of SMEs and Large Firms in Canada, Gilles Mcdougall and David Swimmer, Micro-Economic Policy Analysis, Industry Canada, 1997.
- No. 17 Impact of China's Trade and Foreign Investment Reforms on the World Economy, Winnie Lam, Micro-Economic Policy Analysis, Industry Canada, 1997.
- No. 18 Regional Disparities in Canada: Characterization, Trends and Lessons for Economic Policy, Serge Coulombe, Department of Economics, University of Ottawa, 1997.
- No. 19 Inter-Industry and U.S. R&D Spillovers, Canadian Industrial Production and Productivity Growth, Jeffrey I. Bernstein, Carleton University and National Bureau of Economic Research, under contract with Industry Canada, 1998.
- No. 20 Information Technology and Labour Productivity Growth: An Empirical Analysis for Canada and the United States, Surendra Gera, Wulong Gu and Frank C. Lee, Micro-Economic Policy Analysis, Industry Canada, 1998.
- No. 21 Capital-Embodied Technical Change and the Productivity Growth Slowdown in Canada, Surendra Gera, Wulong Gu and Frank C. Lee, Micro-Economic Policy Analysis, Industry Canada, 1998.
- No. 22 The Corporate Tax Structure and the Effects on Production, Cost and Efficiency, Jeffrey I. Bernstein, Carleton University and National Bureau of Economic Research, under contract with Industry Canada, 1998.
- No. 23 **Restructuring in Canadian Industries: A Micro Analysis**, Sunder Magun, Applied International Economics, under contract with Industry Canada, 1998.
- No. 24 Canadian Government Policies Toward Inward Foreign Direct Investment, Steven Globerman and Daniel Shapiro, Simon Fraser University, under contract with Industry Canada, 1998.

DISCUSSION PAPER SERIES

- No. 1 Multinationals as Agents of Change: Setting a New Canadian Policy on Foreign Direct Investment, Lorraine Eden, Carleton University, 1994.
- No. 2 Technological Change and International Economic Institutions, Sylvia Ostry, Centre for International Studies, University of Toronto, under contract with Industry Canada, 1995.
- No. 3 Canadian Corporate Governance: Policy Options, Ronald. J. Daniels, Faculty of Law, University of Toronto, and Randall Morck, Faculty of Business, University of Alberta, 1996.
- No. 4 Foreign Direct Investment and Market Framework Policies: Reducing Frictions in APEC Policies on Competition and Intellectual Property, Ronald Hirshhorn, 1996.
- No. 5 Industry Canada's Foreign Investment Research: Messages and Policy Implications, Ronald Hirshhorn, 1997.
- No. 6 International Market Contestability and the New Issues at the World Trade Organization, Edward M. Graham, Institute for International Economics, Washington (DC), under contract with Industry Canada, 1998.

OCCASIONAL PAPER SERIES

No. 1 Formal and Informal Investment Barriers in the G-7 Countries: The Country Chapters, Industry Canada, Micro-Economic Policy Analysis Staff including Ashfaq Ahmad, Colleen Barnes, John Knubley, Rosemary D. MacDonald and Christopher Wilkie, 1994.

Formal and Informal Investment Barriers in the G-7 Countries: Summary and Conclusions, Industry Canada, Micro-Economic Policy Analysis Staff including Ashfaq Ahmad, Colleen Barnes and John Knubley, 1994.

- No. 2 Business Development Initiatives of Multinational Subsidiaries in Canada, Julian Birkinshaw, University of Western Ontario, under contract with Industry Canada, 1995.
- No. 3 The Role of R&D Consortia in Technology Development, Vinod Kumar, Research Centre for Technology Management, Carleton University, and Sunder Magun, Centre for Trade Policy and Law, University of Ottawa and Carleton University, under contract with Industry Canada, 1995.
- No. 4 Gender Tracking in University Programs, Sid Gilbert, University of Guelph, and Alan Pomfret, King's College, University of Western Ontario, 1995.

- No. 5 **Competitiveness: Concepts and Measures**, Donald G. McFetridge, Department of Economics, Carleton University, 1995.
- No. 6 Institutional Aspects of R&D Tax Incentives: The SR&ED Tax Credit, G. Bruce Doern, School of Public Administration, Carleton University, 1995.
- No. 7 **Competition Policy as a Dimension of Economic Policy: A Comparative Perspective**, Robert D. Anderson and S. Dev Khosla, Economics and International Affairs Branch, Bureau of Competition Policy, Industry Canada, 1995.
- No. 8 Mechanisms and Practices for the Assessment of The Social and Cultural Implications of Science and Technology, Liora Salter, Osgoode Hall Law School, University of Toronto, under contract with Industry Canada, 1995.
- No. 9 Science and Technology: Perspectives for Public Policy, Donald G. McFetridge, Department of Economics, Carleton University, under contract with Industry Canada, 1995.
- No. 10 Endogenous Innovation and Growth: Implications for Canada, Pierre Fortin, Université du Québec à Montréal and the Canadian Institute for Advanced Research, and Elhanan Helpman, Tel Aviv University and the Canadian Institute for Advanced Research, under contract with Industry Canada, 1995.
- No. 11 The University-Industry Relationship in Science and Technology, Jérôme Doutriaux, University of Ottawa, and Margaret Barker, Meg Barker Consulting, under contract with Industry Canada, 1995.
- No. 12 Technology and the Economy: A Review of Some Critical Relationships, Michael Gibbons, University of Sussex, under contract with Industry Canada, 1995.
- No. 13 Management Skills Development in Canada, Keith Newton, Industry Canada, 1995.
- No. 14 The Human Factor in Firm's Performance: Management Strategies for Productivity and Competitiveness in the Knowledge-Based Economy, Keith Newton, Industry Canada, 1996.
- No. 15 Payroll Taxation and Employment: A Literature Survey, Joni Baran, Industry Canada, 1996.
- No. 16 Sustainable Development: Concepts, Measures, Market and Policy Failures at the Open Economy, Industry and Firm Levels, Philippe Crabbé, Institute for Research on the Environment and Economy, University of Ottawa, 1997.
- No. 17 Measuring Sustainable Development: A Review of Current Practice, Peter Hardi and Stephan Barg, with Tony Hodge and Laszlo Pinter, International Institute for Sustainable Development, 1997.

- No. 18 Reducing Regulatory Barriers to Trade: Lessons for Canada from the European Experience, Ramesh Chaitoo and Michael Hart, Center for Trade Policy and Law, Carleton University, 1997.
- No. 19 Analysis of International Trade Dispute Settlement Mechanisms and Implications for Canada's Agreement on Internal Trade, E. Wayne Clendenning and Robert J. Clendenning, E. Wayne Clendenning & Associates Inc., under contract with Industry Canada, 1997.
- No. 20 Aboriginal Businesses: Characteristics and Strategies for Growth, David Caldwell and Pamela Hunt, Management Consulting Centre, under contract with Aboriginal Business Canada, Industry Canada, 1998.

CANADA IN THE 21ST CENTURY SERIES

- No. 1 Global Trends: 1980-2015 and Beyond, J. Bradford De Long, University of California, Berkeley, under contract with Industry Canada, 1998.
- No. 2 Broad Liberalization Based on Fundamentals: A Framework for Canadian Commercial Policy, Randy Wigle, Wilfrid Laurier University, under contract with Industry Canada, 1998.
- No. 3 North American Economic Integration: 25 Years Backward and Forward, Gary C. Hufbauer and Jeffrey J. Schott, Institute for International Economics, Washington (DC), under contract with Industry Canada, 1998.
- No. 4 Demographic Trends in Canada, 1996-2006 : Implications for the Public and Private Sectors, David K. Foot, Richard A. Loreto and Thomas W. McCormack, Madison Avenue Demographics Group, under contract with Industry Canada, 1998.
- No. 5 Capital Investment Challenges in Canada, Ronald P. M. Giammarino, University of British Columbia, under contract with Industry Canada, 1998.
- No. 6 Looking to the 21st Century Infrastructure Investments for Economic Growth and for the Welfare and Well-Being of Canadians, Christian DeBresson, Université du Québec à Montréal, and Stéphanie Barker, Université de Montréal, under contract with Industry Canada, 1998.
- No. 7 The Implications of Technological Change for Human Resource Policy, Julian R. Betts, University of California in San Diego, under contract with Industry Canada, 1998.
- No. 8 Economics and the Environment: The Recent Canadian Experience and Prospects for the Future, Brian R. Copeland, University of British Columbia, under contract with Industry Canada, 1998.

No. 9 Individual Responses to Changes in the Canadian Labour Market, Paul Beaudry and David A. Green, University of British Columbia, under contract with Industry Canada, 1998.

JOINT PUBLICATIONS

Capital Budgeting in the Public Sector, in collaboration with the John Deutsch Institute, Jack Mintz and Ross S. Preston eds., 1994.

Infrastructure and Competitiveness, in collaboration with the John Deutsch Institute, Jack Mintz and Ross S. Preston eds., 1994.

Getting the Green Light: Environmental Regulation and Investment in Canada, in collaboration with the C. D. Howe Institute, Jamie Benidickson, G. Bruce Doern and Nancy Olewiler, 1994.

To obtain copies of documents published under the Research Publications Program, please contact:

Publications Officer Micro-Economic Policy Analysis Industry Canada 5th Floor, West Tower 235 Queen Street Ottawa, Ontario, K1A 0H5

Tel.: (613) 952-5704 Fax: (613) 991-1261 E-mail: fumerton.cheryl@ic.gc.ca